THE IMPACT OF GUIDED DOODLE NOTE-TAKING ON READING COMPREHENSION: A QUASI-EXPERIMENTAL STUDY

by

Kayla Lorraine DeWald

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2024

THE IMPACT OF GUIDED DOODLE NOTE-TAKINGON READING COMPREHENSION: A QUASI-EXPERIMENTAL STUDY

by Kayla Lorraine DeWald

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2024

APPROVED BY:

Rebecca M. Lunde, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Jamaul Kennedy, Ed.D., Committee Member

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this quasi-experimental nonequivalent control-group study is to determine the impact of guided doodle note-taking strategies on middle school students' reading comprehension. The importance of this study is the impact the data makes on the best practices of teacher instruction. The sample size is 101 students set in a city district in the Southeast United States. The students vary in socioeconomic levels, with many of them falling below the poverty line and representing a wide variety of ethnicities and races. Data was collected using pre- and post-test practices. The instrument utilized was the Reading Comprehension Scale. Data were analyzed using an analysis of covariance, ANCOVA. Results are discussed by RQ. The results are found to not be statistically significant, and the research was unable to reject the null hypotheses. It is concluded that any form of note-taking is beneficial for middle school students. Future research on what constitutes as non-verbal stimuli in regard to memory is recommended as well as a study spanning a longer amount of time.

Keywords: reading comprehension, doodle notes, middle schools, ANCOVA

Dedication

I am dedicating this dissertation to Grandmama DeWald, who supported me in all my decisions and would have been so proud of me for completing my doctorate.

I love you and miss you, Grandma. (April 28, 1939 – January 10, 2021).

I am also dedicating this dissertation to my daddy. I am so thankful to have such an amazing father figure to look up to, who encourages me to make the best choices in my life, and who is always there to be my sounding board. Thank you, Daddy, for always supporting my dreams to reach for the moon, even when I land among the stars. I love you.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my village for allowing me to put the effort toward completing this degree. I am so thankful to have a community of people who support me throughout all my crazy notions, including randomly deciding to get my Ph.D.

My daddy for always believing in me.

My momma for being the one to push me harder.

My brother and sister, Bruin and Tori, for providing the competition in the family.

My best friends, Carla and Melanie, for being my hype women no matter what.

My DSS workers for working with me as I navigated through fostering and school.

My foster and adoptive babies for loving me while we stayed up for hours writing papers.

Thank you, to everyone who has been involved in my life and gotten to see the craziness that I bring to everyone. I appreciate the consistent support and love.

I also thank God for guiding me through these past few years. I pray that I continue to serve Him in the way which he has planned. I pray that this dissertation is "gracious, seasoned with salt," and provides guidance for teachers who are looking to best serve their students.

ABSTRACT	
Dedication	4
Acknowledgments	5
List of Tables	
List of Figures	11
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	12
Overview	12
Background	
Historical Overview	
Society-at-Large	14
Theoretical Background	15
Problem Statement	16
Purpose Statement	17
Significance of the Study	
Research Questions	19
Definitions	
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	21
Overview	21
Theoretical Framework	21
Related Literature	23
The Process of Learning	23
Memory	

Table of Contents

How Learning Happens	
Benefits of Offloading	29
Note-taking	
Generative Learning Strategies	35
Reading Comprehension	
Reading Strategies	
Reading Comprehension and Memory	41
Reading Comprehension and Note-Taking	42
Doodling	42
Learning by Doing	44
Doodling and Recall	45
Structured vs. Non-Structured Doodling	46
Summary	48
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	
Overview	
Design	
Research Questions	54
Hypotheses	55
Participants and Setting	56
Population	56
Participants	56
Setting	58
Instrumentation	

Procedures	61
Data Analysis	
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	65
Overview	65
Research Questions	65
Null Hypotheses	
Descriptive Statistics	66
RQ1	66
RQ2	67
RQ3	67
Results	67
RQ1 Results	67
RQ2 Results	
RQ3 Results	
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS	77
Overview	77
Discussion	77
Null Hypothesis One	77
Null Hypothesis Two	
Null Hypothesis Three	80
Implications	
Limitations	
Recommendations for Future Research	

REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	

List of Tables

Table 1: Nonequivalent Control-Group Design	52
Table 2: Race and Ethnicity of School	57
Table 3: ANCOVA Results for RQ1	70
Table 4: ANCOVA Results for RQ2	72
Table 5: ANCOVA Results for RQ3	75
Table 6: Means of Post-Test Scores per Note Form	77

List of Figures

Figure 1: Scatter Plot of Pre-Test by Post-Test by Notes with Regression Lines RQ1
Figure 2: Scatterplot of Standardized and Predicted Residuals of Post-Test Scores by Notes for
RQ1
Figure 3: Scatter Plot of Pre-Test by Post-Test by Notes with Regression Lines RQ270
Figure 4: Scatterplot of Standardized and Predicted Residuals of Post-Test Scores by Notes for
RQ271
Figure 5: Scatter Plot of Pre-Test by Post-Test by Notes with Regression Lines RQ372
Figure 6: Scatterplot of Standardized and Predicted Residuals of Post-Test Scores by Notes for
RQ3

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

The purpose of this quasi-experimental nonequivalent control-group study was to determine the impact of guided doodle note-taking strategies on middle school students' reading comprehension. Chapter One provides a background for the topics of note-taking and doodling. Included in the background is an overview of the theoretical framework for this study. The problem statement examines the scope of the recent literature on this topic. The purpose of this study is followed by the significance of the current study and the research questions. The chapter concludes with a list of key terms and their definitions.

Background

Doodling is often defined as aimless sketching completed when one is bored or otherwise not cognitively engaged (Amico & Schaefer, 2019; Nash, 2021). Despite the use of the word "aimless" in the official definition, doodling while listening to a lecture or absorbing some other form of information can improve retention. When studied, structured and unstructured doodling helps students with remembering what they have learned in class (Sundararaman, 2020). Doodling has also been shown to prevent mental wandering and daydreaming (Tadayon & Afhami, 2017). It allows students to maintain focus on the lecture and their learning rather than focusing on other thoughts.

In addition, doodling increases visual literacy along with graphics and text. Doodling, sketch noting, and the use of mind maps incorporate what is known as "dual coding theory" where researchers determined that students learn better when information is presented in both visuals and text (Paivio, 1974). They are a form of visual thinking that incorporates constructivist

strategies such as creativity, personal application of learning, and independent thought (Zeyab et al., 2020). These skills are important when considering encoding and recalling information.

Historical Overview

Note-taking is a popular strategy for learning and processing. It is common practice in classrooms for students to take notes in class (Kobayashi, 2005; Peverly & Wolf, 2019). Note-taking is an effective practice because students are processing and synthesizing the information while they are writing. The process of writing notes requires students to be actively engaged in the material being presented and has been shown to increase recall (Nayar & Koul, 2019). This active engagement benefits students by creating deeper levels of understanding (Bohay et al., 2011). Note-taking is also an effective practice because it provides a method of offloading new information to allow for more cognitive activities to take place (Makany et al., 2009).

Notes are typically thought of as words written down on a page, but the concept is a bit more complex. Notes can look different depending on the requirements and the student. Some fields, such as medicine and veterinary sciences, require students to draw diagrams in their notes (Kobayashi, 2006). Guided notes are an option that are utilized for students who need more structure. This is used in situations where students need help taking notes or are designated to have guided notes as an accommodation for class (Beserra et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2017). Notes can also be taken using visual strategies. Sketch-noting and other visual note-taking strategies are utilized when the note-taker wishes to portray the material using imagery. This strategy requires students to synthesize the material and associate the verbal information with imagery, creating a better connection in the brain (Zeyab et al., 2020).

Doodling as an art and method of communication has been found dating back to the ancient Egyptians. The hieroglyphics found written on cave walls are examples of using visual

representations of information (Ali et al., 2021). The practice of doodling, however, is often seen as a negative behavior in the classroom. A student who is doodling during a lecture is considered to be off-task (Beserra et al., 2019).

Doodling as a technique for visual learning and building connections has been considered in research. Andrade (2010) studied the impact of doodling on participants' recall ability when hearing a telephone message. This study utilized structured doodles by encouraging participants to shade in pre-drawn shapes while listening to the recorded message. The findings showed that participants who shaded in the shapes had a higher retention rate compared to the participants who simply listened. Andrade (2010) suggested utilizing this information for cognitive performance purposes, which could apply to educational settings.

Society-at-Large

Understanding the impact of doodling during lectures could impact educational practices. Visual representation of words has been shown to increase recall and memory (Wammes et al., 2017). Doodling has also been shown to reduce mind wandering and daydreaming by providing the brain with an engaging, yet not focused task (Boggs et al., 2017; Meade et al., 2019; Schott, 2011). However, disassociation between the doodling and the information results in stress and a feeling of being overwhelmed (Lewis & Moffett, 2020). Understanding the balance will help educators utilize this information in the classroom.

It is also imperative to provide guidance on note-taking as well as doodling when expecting students to take notes during a lesson. Guided notes provide an option for teacher assisted note-taking, but also allows for students to input their own information from the lecture. Guided notes have been shown to increase student achievement at the university level (Chen et al., 2017). Guided doodles are a strategy that can be used to maintain focus on the lesson but also activate the engagement found when students doodle. These doodles are known as structured doodles and have been shown to produce similar results in one's recall ability as typical written notes (Nayar & Koul, 2019).

Theoretical Background

The human brain is designed to take in visual information more than other types. The use of visuals in educational activities creates an environment that encourages attentiveness and retention (Schunk, 2020). The connection between verbal information and visual imagery allows for a deeper understanding of concepts and word meanings (Paivio, 2014). Research has shown that children tend to use visual imagery to help remember ideas and concepts than adults (Schunk, 2020). This provides evidence for building visual imagery into educational environments.

Dual-coding theory explains how verbal and non-verbal processes work together to allow a person to mentally process both visual and verbal information. Dual-coding theory assumes that the brain has structures that connect verbal and visual information (Paivio, 1974). These structures are in place to allow for a deeper and more intense connection. This theory posits that words that have more concrete meanings, such as apple or dog, are more likely to have a visual connection in a person's mind than words with abstract meanings, such as friendship and growth (Clark & Paivio, 1991; Schunk, 2020). The integration of this imagery and verbal connections can be used to facilitate memory in educational settings.

It is believed that Aristotle was the first to understand and practice the connection between images and words. This came from his belief that thoughts form mental images in one's brain (Paivio, 2014). These mental images can help build the connections needed to understand word meanings and promote memorization of the meanings. Images are more likely to be recalled than words (Paivio, 2014). Storing images into long term memory is a topic that has been debated, but it has been determined that long term memory can store both verbal and visual information (Schunk, 2020).

Dual-coding theory provides a solid theoretical background for the understanding of how using doodle notes helps build stronger connections in one's memory. The use of images or doodles during note-taking in a lecture could create a visual connection (Clark & Paivio, 1991). By providing students with a visual to associate with their lecture information, educators are providing the opportunity for their students to store the information using the dual coding process (Paivio,1974; Wammes et al., 2017). This knowledge provides guidance for the research questions.

Problem Statement

The literature available on the idea of note-taking and doodling separately provided a foundation for this study. The current studies that used structured doodles provided participants with a set of predesigned shapes that were to be shaded in while listening to information (Andrade, 2010; Nayar & Koul, 2019). Studies that considered unstructured doodling as a tool for recall found that the cognitive load of listening and deciding what to draw was too much for the participants to process and resulted in a lower recall level (Meade et al., 2019; Singh & Kashyap, 2014). The literature available suggested future research on the combination of learning tools, including doodling and note-taking specifically in the humanities courses, that would provide more opportunities for this blending to be successful (Nayar & Koul, 2019; Zeyab et al., 2020).

It is suggested that structured doodling be studied as a tool to increase recall (Sundararaman, 2020; Tadayon & Afhami, 2017). Many studies also shared limitations regarding

sample size and time frame of the task used as the lecture (Ali et al., 2021; Andrade, 2010; Boggs et al., 2017; Nayar & Koul, 2019; Tadayon & Afhami, 2017; Zeyab et al., 2020). It is also noted that there was a lack of literature available that showed the impact of doodling on recall and memory when students were required to recall the information after time has passed, as in a typical school setting. Many studies, including Boggs et al. (2017) and Meade et al., (2019), called for more information regarding doodle note-taking in a real-world setting. The problem was that the literature did not combine the concepts of doodling and guided note-taking into one, nor did the research available address the impact of these note-taking strategies on middle school students.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative, quasi-experimental nonequivalent control-group study was to determine the impact of guided doodle note-taking strategies on middle school student reading comprehension. This study looked at student reading comprehension skills after time had passed and more material had been covered. The independent variable was the note-taking strategy used and the dependent variable was the student's reading comprehension, or the process of creating meaning from the text through personal interactions and other engagement (Frankel et al., 2019). The covariates considered were academic ability and previous knowledge. Controlling for these covariates allow for a better picture of the true impact of the note-taking strategies used. The guided structured doodle notes served as the experimental treatment, with the control group being traditional written guided note-taking strategies. Guided notes were defined as partially completed note pages assigned to students during class to increase note-taking skills and provide students with quality material for future studying (Chen et al., 2017; Feudel & Panse, 2021). Guided doodle notes build from that by adding images for students to

color and add to while participating in note-taking. Student reading comprehension skills were measured using a valid and reliable instrument. The instrument used was a self-reporting tool that allowed students to reflect on their reading comprehension skills.

The population studied included middle school students in a high-poverty, highly diverse public school located in central North Carolina. The students were from all ethnicities and backgrounds, as well as a range of socio-economic levels. However, 75% or more of the students fell under the level of free and reduced lunch. The students included in the study were in the seventh grade and their ages ranged from 11 to 14. They were all in the same grade level. All students included in the study had returned permission forms signed by guardians.

Significance of the Study

This study provides educators with empirical evidence regarding the impact of guided doodle note-taking in the traditional K-12 classroom. Structured doodling has been shown to both increase recall and decrease recall ability (Meade et al., 2019). Note-taking in the traditional verbal form has shown increased achievement and recall in college students (Chen et al., 2017; Morehead et al., 2019). Visual note-taking has also shown to serve as a strong teaching tool (Zeyab et al., 2020). Guided notes have been studied and shown to improve learning performance in college students (Chen et al., 2017). Similarly, structured doodling has shown to increase recall abilities when compared to free doodling (Boggs et al., 2017; Sundararaman, 2020).

Combining the variables from the studies mentioned to specify a guided doodle notetaking procedure provides educators with the information needed to ensure success in their classrooms. The results from this study could assist in informing best practices in the classroom setting and allow for higher learning and retention in students across K-12 settings. Nayar and Koul (2019) suggested a learning tool that combined doodling and note-taking for future research. This study set out to determine if a combination tool was effective in increasing student recall.

Research Questions

Quantitative data was collected to provide evidence surrounding the hypotheses. The following research questions were designed to investigate the purpose of the study:

RQ1: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between all students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

RQ2: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between female students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

RQ3: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between male students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

Definitions

The following terms will be utilized as defined below:

- Doodling The act of doodling is creating drawings that are dissimilar to the task at hand (Meade et al., 2019; Sundararaman, 2020).
- Guided Notes Guided notes are partially completed note pages assigned to students during class to increase note-taking skills and provide students with quality material for future studying (Chen et al., 2017; Feudel & Panse, 2021).

- 3. *Note-taking* This is the process of writing down information during an activity in which the participant feels the material presented is important to be retained (Bohay et al., 2011; İlter, 2019).
- 4. *Reading Comprehension* Reading comprehension is the process of creating meaning from the text through personal interactions and other engagement (Frankel et al., 2019).

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

A systematic review of the literature was conducted to explore the impact of guided doodle note-taking strategies on the recall of middle school English language arts students. This chapter offers a review of the research on this topic. Dual coding theory was utilized as a theoretical framework and is discussed in the first section. This is followed by a review of recent literature on the process of learning, note-taking, and doodling. Lastly, the literature surrounding the impact of doodling on recall and a comparison of structured and unstructured doodling are discussed. Finally, a gap in the literature was identified regarding research that utilizes guided doodle note-taking strategies in the K-12 classroom setting.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this study was based on the dual coding theory presented by Allan Paivio (1974). This theory explained the connection between verbal and visual learning and the impact these mediums have on memory. It has been revised over time to include new findings. This section details the origins and development of this theory and the rationale for this research study.

Dual coding theory was developed by Paivio (1974) to answer the question of how memory stored information. He theorized that memory and learning had systems that connected verbal and visual information in the brain. Paivio developed dual coding theory to support the notion that memories take shape as images or videos in the brain and can connect this imagery with verbal information. Paivio stated that the two systems, verbal and visual, are interconnected but can also run independently. For example, one can be speaking while imagining images of another location unrelated to the conversation they are having (Paivio, 1974). These two systems have stark differences as well. Long-term memory storage can occur in visual and verbal forms, but the verbal form tends to be used more for abstract concepts, while the visual format is used for concrete ideas (Schunk, 2020).

The theory presents the understanding that long-term memory uses a verbal system and an imaginal, non-verbal system to create memory and knowledge (Paivio, 1974). These two systems are connected and are utilized in different scenarios, with verbal being used for abstract concepts and imaginal being used for concrete ideas (Schunk, 2020). This theory connects the concept of a stimulus, such as the auditory stimuli of a phone ringing, with a nonverbal sensory pair, such as the idea of picking up the phone when it rings. The brain connects the ringing auditory stimuli with the physical action of answering the phone (Paivio, 2014).

Connections in dual coding theory can be referential or associative. Referential connections are the connections that marry a verbal stimulus to a referred nonverbal image. For example, when students learn the word *dog*, they may hear it and imagine a dog they know personally (Clark & Paivio, 1991). This reference ties the image to the word, building a stronger connection. Associative connections are created from associations made when one encounters a verbal stimulus (Clark & Paivio, 1991). An example is a child who is learning that the stove is hot. They hear the word *stove* and realize they get burnt when touching the appliance. The child builds the association between the word *stove* with the sensory impact of being burnt to learn to not touch the stove.

Dual coding theory highlights the importance of connecting learning and memory's verbal and nonverbal aspects. Utilizing both verbal and imagery codes have been proven to enhance memory (Clark & Paivio, 1991). Over time, verbal and nonverbal skills have been combined when considering intelligence. The Stanford-Binet Intelligence Scales and the Army

Alpha and Beta Examinations, as well as other tests used around the world, utilize both verbal and nonverbal criteria when examining intelligence (Paivio, 2014).

Doodle note-taking strategies utilize both the visual and verbal aspects of learning and memory. Dual coding theory presents a foundation for why this learning process would be successful by explaining how the brain stores visual and verbal information. Doodle notes can help provide visuals for abstract concepts taught in the classroom, allowing students to create a visual memory. This memory is more likely to be recalled than one that is simply stored as verbal memory (Clark & Paivio, 1991; Schunk, 2020). By creating these codes for students through guided doodle notes, teachers can increase the stored memories and, in turn, the recall of information their students have (Schunk, 2020). This study set out to design a setting where this foundation was tested and used visual and verbal coding to increase student recall.

Related Literature

Educators spend much of their time considering the learning process in their classrooms. They are responsible for determining what tools to use in their lessons to serve their students best and impact their memory and learning. Both note-taking and doodling are tools that can be utilized in the classroom. This section reviews the existing literature surrounding the process of learning and memory. It also synthesizes the literature surrounding note-taking and doodling. This synthesis provides a deeper understanding of these concepts as a foundation for the present study.

The Process of Learning

To understand how doodling affects student learning, one must understand how learning occurs. Learning as a cognitive process occurs when neural connections are formed and strengthened (Schunk, 2020). Humans learn through verbal and non-verbal epochs (Paivio, 2014). These epochs also intertwine to create a third learning subsection that utilizes verbal and nonverbal skills. The periods of these epochs depend on the person. Their environment and learning styles determine which epoch will result in the most effective learning (Paivio, 2014; Schunk, 2020).

Incorporating the traditional three learning styles in delivering information is considered best practice. It is common for teachers to utilize a learning inventory that will help them see what group each of their students falls under (Nguyen et al., 2022). However, good instruction incorporates all three learning styles into their lessons. This combination results in enhanced learner achievement and performance, and creates the recipe for a deeper understanding of the content (Zeyab et al., 2020).

Meaningful learning occurs when students engage in three cognitive processes: paying attention to relevant information, organizing the materials into coherent representations, and integrating the new information with existing knowledge (Clark & Mayer, 2016). The learning environment must be conducive to these stages and allow for active processing to occur (Lagoudakis et al., 2022). Educators must find the balance of cognitive processing to maximize student engagement and learning. An excess of extraneous information or essential processing causes a distraction for students, resulting in a lower ability to retain the information. Learning experiences that require the underutilization of generative processing result in lower student engagement (Clark & Mayer, 2016). Finding the right balance allows students to maintain the optimal level of active engagement, resulting in higher retention (Lagoudakis et al., 2022).

Memory

Memory is an essential aspect of learning. Memory and non-verbal imagery have been used to interpret intellectual abilities for over 2,000 years (Paivio, 2014). Memory is looked at in various ways, including neurological connections related to external stimuli and encoding of knowledge in an organized fashion. Repetition of stimuli and activities increases these connections, resulting in memories being formed and learning to occur (Schunk, 2020). These connections are made more potent when they combine both the verbal and nonverbal aspects of learning. The concept of *a picture is worth 1000 words* relates to the impact of nonverbal imagery tying in with the verbal part of learning (Nayar & Koul, 2019).

Memory consists of two significant subsections: short-term and long-term memory. Memory begins with information processing and sensory stimulation, with visual or auditory stimuli tied to a sensory effect. Information begins in the short-term memory bank but cannot be held there for long (Clark & Mayer, 2016; Schunk, 2020) The working memory is where the information is organized into representations that make sense to the learner. What follows is the integration of the new material with existing knowledge (Clark & Mayer, 2016). When the brain processes the information and can relate it to the information stored in long-term memory, it is moved from short-term to long-term and filed with related material (Schunk, 2020). The process is similar to a filing cabinet in the brain, where information is matched and stored with like concepts.

Managing the working memory is key to successful learning experiences. Students who experience a working memory overload are more likely to become frustrated, slowing down the learning process. Educators must be mindful of cognitive load when creating learning experiences (Clark & Mayer, 2016). Grade school educators are at an advantage regarding this process as memory performance peaks during the first two decades of life. However, researchers cannot be sure whether the improvement of memory over these first two decades is because of the acquisition of new information, or because of the brain's ability to effectively recall prior knowledge (Brod & Shing, 2022).

The Impact of Stress on Memory

An individual's stress level affects the way one's brain processes and stores information. High-stress levels can adversely affect memory (Khayyer et al., 2021). When an individual is experiencing high stress levels, the way information is stored into their memory is impacted. If stress is occurring during the processing and encoding period, it benefits learning and memory storage. However, if stress occurs during the retrieval process, memory has been shown to become impaired (McManus et al., 2022). An increase of cortisol in the body during a stressful event is what researchers have suggested may impact memory retrieval (M. Marin et al., 2019).

The emotions experienced during an event can also influence how the event is remembered (Khayyer et al., 2021; McManus et al., 2022). In fact, memories that are tied to an emotional connection are more likely to be remembered due to a difference in the encoding process than those that are not. Stress typically evokes a negative emotional state, resulting in a bias in what is being processed and stored in memory (M. Marin et al., 2019). Higher anxiety and stress can lead to one focusing on negative stimuli and processing out other stimuli in the environment (Khayyer et al., 2021).

Stress in the learning environment has the potential to help or hinder a student's learning. Low levels of stress in the learning environment can positively influence a student's encoding processes. The stressor must be introduced after the learning occurs, however, or the risk of hindering the learning is present. Students who experience stressors after a learning experience are more likely to retain the information than those who experience the stressor before the experience (Khayyer et al., 2021; McManus et al., 2022).

Gender Differences in Memory and Learning

The comparison between boys and girls in educational research is a contrast that can be found easily when searched. Despite some researchers presenting that gender cannot be used as a category to differentiate between specific skills, these comparisons begin as early as preschool or before (Bartlett & Camba, 2023). Uppstad et al. (2021) compared the responses of boys and girls during their early educational years and found that formal education tended to level the playing field for gender differences by second grade. However, Roivainen et al. (2021) found that females had a higher processing speed than men when compared. It was determined that this difference was neurological or physiological in nature.

Other researchers agreed with the concept that gender differences may be neurological or physiological in nature. Acar-Erdol and Akin-Arikan (2022) mentioned that maturation differences could account for the biological perspective of educational gender differences. The use of metacognition strategies differs between boys and girls. Girls use their metacognition skills to understand the words and are more likely to utilize their note-taking and summarizing strategies. Boys, on the other hand, use their metacognition skills to connect their reading with previous knowledge (Acar-Erdol & Akin-Arikan, 2022). This can be attributed to evidence found that supported a difference in brain laterality. Researchers have found some evidence supporting that males used more right-brain, non-verbal strategies to solve problems while females were more likely to use left-brain, verbal strategies (Bartlett & Camba, 2023).

Gender differences can be found in working memory as well. Bedyńska et al. (2020) found that males had a lower working memory than females due to a higher stereotypical threat related to language achievement. This can be attributed to the way in which males process the information compared to females. Males utilize more of the parietal regions of their brains when approaching memory tasks, meaning they use more visual tools in memory. Females utilize more of the brain's limbic and prefrontal areas, resulting in more verbal memory tools (Hill et al., 2014).

How Learning Happens

Learning happens with a change in the learner's knowledge occurs (Clark & Mayer, 2016). Learning takes place within the brain, meaning a basic understanding of how the brain works is important to understanding how learning happens. Stimuli enter the brain through the reticular activating system and are filtered subconsciously by what are deemed important. Students' reticular activating systems will filter out information that they do not find interesting because their filter is not as mature as an adult's (Willis & Willis, 2020). Once the information has made it through the filter, it is in the short-term, or working, memory (Schunk, 2020; Willis & Willis, 2020). The short-term memory stores the information for a limited amount of time, until the brain decides the information is important and stores it in long-term memory or discards it. (Schunk, 2020).

Short-term memory can be overloaded with too much information, especially when learning new information (Paas & van Merriënboer, 2020). This leads to cognitive overload and not all information is absorbed (Lim et al., 2019). Educators who are conscious of the cognitive load of their students can work to maintain an acceptable level of information being presented at a time. Cognitive load reduction techniques are imperative for students to be able to begin the integration process of memory building, especially for students who are learning new material. Off-loading strategies and chunking can also enhance the ability for students to increase the information in their short-term memory (Clark & Mayer, 2016; Paas & van Merriënboer, 2020; Willis & Willis, 2020).

Benefits of Offloading

Offloading information helps the brain process what is important and can assist with developing more long-term memories. Note-taking is a form of offloading that is used frequently in school settings. Essentially, offloading information consists of storing important information in an external environment. This can include notebooks, phones, calendars, etc. It can be considered a learning strategy if used as a tool to learn new information (Dong et al., 2022). Reminders are also considered a form of offloading. Reminders are beneficial when the brain has a higher amount of information to process. This provides a tool that encourages the remembrance of information while not increasing the current mental load (Peper et al., 2023).

Offloading using reminders has a few benefits for memory. Reminders can help children and adults alike offload information that they would otherwise have to keep stored in their memory. The utilization of external tools for offloading is an increasing practice, with technology and other tools becoming more standard in people's lives (Dong et al., 2022). These reminder tools help decrease the cognitive load, allowing for more capacity in one's memory. Peper et al. (2023) found that reminders helped with increasing prospective memory but were more beneficial when the reminder required participants to produce relevant information regarding the event or topic specified in the reminder.

When researched, children could offload information but could not place value in what was offloaded (Dong et al., 2022). It was hypothesized that because of the lower metacognition skills of middle school students, their ability to place value on specific information to be offloaded was decreased. Dong et al. (2022) suggested that the limited working memory of middle school students impacted their ability to determine the value of information. Their study utilized word pairing as a tool for memory, which is like pairing words with images in this study.

Note-taking

Note-taking is a common practice for offloading information that is used in modern education (L. Marin & Sturm, 2021). The process includes jotting down information from a lecture or other class material. The process requires students to take in the information presented and write it down in their own words (İlter, 2019). Note-taking can also be considered an intervention for students with learning disabilities or other impairments (Harrison et al., 2020). An understanding of note-taking as a strategy is imperative to be able to understand how doodle note-taking strategies affect recall.

Note-taking is a more modern educational practice (L. Marin & Sturm, 2021). The origin of note-taking did not involve selecting the most important pieces of information to jot down. Note-taking began as a process to write down everything that was said during a lecture. The note-taker must have possessed speed and precision to be successful at taking notes. The concept has evolved over time. There are examples of community note-taking where students all work together to create a collective set of notes. There are also examples of students writing rough notes during the lecture only to transcribe them into more detailed and informative notes after the lecture (Korsgaard, 2020). As time as progressed, the process of note-taking has evolved into what we are familiar with today. This has introduced a variety of strategies designed to help the learner pull out the key points of a lecture to review later (Chen, 2021; Korsgaard, 2020).

With the increase of technology, digital tools have been introduced to note-taking. Notetaking has moved from solely being a paper and pencil activity to including digital options, such as typing notes on word processors and the inclusion of multimedia information. Studies have been conducted on the efficacy of digital note-taking versus long-hand note-taking. Long handed written notes have won out as the preferred method of note-taking when compared to digital note-taking. Students are more likely to remember the material when writing long handed notes (Ihara et al., 2021; Vasylets et al., 2022; Wong & Lim, 2021). The action of writing long handed notes also prevents students' minds from wandering off the presented topic (Wong & Lim, 2021). Vasylets et al. (2022) also found that students who took notes digitally had a slower processing speed than those who took notes using paper and pencil. This was attributed to the idea that digital tools allowed students to edit their notes quicker than those who were writing long handed but resulted in lower speed fluency.

The act of taking notes requires multiple cognitive skills that must be taught to students. They are expected listen to the lecture, pull out the key information, and jot that information down in a way that will benefit their review later. This process requires metacognitive skills including coding, sequencing, classification, and more. Students are expected to use these skills effectively while the information is still in their working memory so they can write the notes that will be most beneficial during their review (İlter, 2019). The students need to be able to comprehend the material being taught. Writing notes in their language and style increases this comprehension. It also allows the students to design their notes and code the information taught in a way that makes the best sense to them (Makany et al., 2009).

However, research has shown that students typically take incomplete notes that do not represent an understanding of the material taught (Ponce et al., 2020). Students have a difficult time deciding what information is key and what to include in their notes. Instead of summarizing the material, students will often jot down arbitrary words and phrases that may not be of importance to the material (Rusdiansyah, 2019). Providing students with partial or complete sets of notes for them to use has been found as an effective method to combat this struggle (Colliot et al., 2021; Ward & Vengrin, 2021).

The Efficacy of Note-Taking

Taking notes has a highly positive value as a learning strategy and helps off-load the information being processed to allow more information to come through (Boggs et al., 2017; Flippo & Bean, 2018; Makany et al., 2009). The process also allows students to encode their hearing or reading material. This encoding process enables students to build new connections in their brains, storing the information in their long-term memory bank (Nayar & Koul, 2019). Note-taking not only utilizes multiple cognitive skills, but also ties the motion of writing in with the learning. The movement of writing notes adds to the connections being made in the brain, resulting in higher levels of recall (L. Marin & Sturm, 2021).

Writing the notes in the students' own language is important to the efficacy of the process (Morehead et al., 2019). Paraphrasing what is being taught results in higher understanding versus copying notes word for word (İlter, 2019). What a student does with the notes following the lecture also impacts the efficacy of the note-taking process. Students who organize their notes and practice creating key points within the information are more likely to remember the information than those who do not (Chen, 2021). Studies agreed that it allowed students to review their notes while studying rather than relying on memory alone (Kobayashi, 2005; Makany et al., 2009).

Criticisms of Note-Taking

The practice of taking notes has been criticized as much as praised. In a meta-analysis of note-taking studies, Wong and Lim (2021) found that note-taking may have hindered learning more than helped it. Students who are more focused on the concept of writing the notes down are not as likely to process the information they are receiving. Students may also be preoccupied with the mechanical aspects of note-taking, including the style and the structure of their writing,

causing a distraction while learning. Note-taking requires many cognitive processes necessary to process information, meaning that students cannot process the information because their brains are focusing on the notes. Without guidance, the process can rely too much on the learner's ability to process the new information (Clark & Mayer, 2016; Makany et al., 2009). These distractions hinder the encoding process and prevent students from committing the information to memory, especially when it impacts novice learners.

It has also been found that certain types of information may not be conducive to the practice of note-taking. For example, note-taking does not benefit students when the assessment requires a simple recall. The information being assessed will get intertwined with the encoding processes, and students can get confused when determining the correct answer (Kobayashi, 2005). It is also difficult for students to comprehend a verbal lesson and write verbal notes because both tasks require similar cognitive skills (Sundararaman, 2020).

Efficacy of Guided Notes

Students who have not been taught how to properly take notes may struggle more than those who have (Chen, 2021; Morehead et al., 2019). Guided notes are a strategy that can be used to teach students how to take notes or provide an easier, more focused method of notetaking (Feudel & Panse, 2021). Studies have shown that students also interacted more with the material when provided guided notes with which to follow along (Biggers & Luo, 2020). Guided notes have been shown to support students with special learning needs, such as those with ADHD and other learning disabilities (Harrison et al., 2020; Lefki et al., 2019).

Guided notes allow students to offload some of the mental requirements of note-taking, giving them more capacity to focus on the lecture (Astra et al., 2020; Feudel & Panse, 2021). Researchers have found that when students have access to guided notes, they are able to interact with the instructor and the material more than if they were focused on writing down key points with no guidance (Feudel & Panse, 2021). It has also been found that the use of guided notes can increase students' critical thinking abilities (Astra et al., 2020). Understanding how the use of guided notes supports critical thinking and the ability to focus on the lecture information provides a framework for understanding how images can impact the efficacy of notes.

Guided notes can also take the form of graphic organizers. Graphic organizers are visual displays that are used to provide an outline of the text or information (Colliot & Jamet, 2020). These organizers provide a structure to allow for a guided note-taking process, which has been shown to improve educational outcomes (Allen et al., 2020). Graphic organizers and guided notes provide a generative learning strategy, which has been shown to increase learning in younger learners when compared to unguided note-taking (Ponce et al., 2020).

Graphic Organizers

Graphic organizers are another form of guided notes. Graphic organizers are guided notes that use visual tools to help students learn and remember information. Examples of commonly used graphic organizers are t-charts, tree charts, and maps (Jeon et al., 2023). Graphic organizers have been studied and found to be effective learning tools in a variety of subjects (Fabros & Ibañez, 2021; Qi & Jiang, 2021; Ward & Vengrin, 2021). The use of pictorial representations and graphics has been shown to increase student learning versus the use of only verbal representations (Clark & Mayer, 2016). However, the type of organizer does impact the effectiveness of the tool (Jeon et al., 2023).

Studies have been done to determine the effectiveness of different types of graphic organizers and summaries of learning materials. Students can be responsible for creating and completing the organizer or teachers can provide students with a pre-made organizer that the students are responsible for filling in. It has been found that the pre-made organizers are preferred by students and result in a higher understanding of the material. When compared, students who completed instructor-created organizers scored higher on tests than those who were responsible for creating their own graphics or had no graphic organizer at all (Clark & Mayer, 2016; Colliot et al., 2021; Ward & Vengrin, 2021).

Generative Learning Strategies

Generative learning strategies are those designed to promote active engagement in the materials being presented. These strategies support the integration of new information with prior knowledge, providing students with the opportunity to move information from short to long-term memory (Clark & Mayer, 2016). Students who are instructed to read materials without being provided the opportunity to actively engage in the text are less likely to retain and comprehend the materials when compared to those who are encouraged to utilize generative learning strategies (Brod, 2020; Ponce et al., 2020). These strategies can be applied to multiple age ranges, subjects, and content. Breitwieser and Brod (2021) found success using generative learning strategies with students ranging from ages 9-11, as well as university students aged 17-29. Meanwhile, AL-ASadi and Judi (2021) found success using generative learning strategies when teaching youth sport club members how to dribble a football.

Generative learning stems from two prior frameworks. The select-organize-integrate (SOI) framework focuses on organizing learning materials into structures that will allow students' working memory to process the information and categorize it to store in their long-term memory. The interactive-constructive-active-passive (ICAP) framework takes that organization concept a bit further by specifying which level of engagement is being reflected (Fiorella, 2023).

Both frameworks utilize constructivist concepts and require students to consider their prior knowledge when building their understanding of the new material (Breitwieser & Brod, 2021).

The activation of prior knowledge is a practice that has been found to benefit learning. Brod and Shing (2022) found that students who can relate new information to congruent prior knowledge can easily integrate the new information into their preexisting knowledge structures. Strategies that require the activation of prior knowledge include activities such as concept mapping, drawing, and questioning, among others. These activities promote comprehension and require students to actively process what they are reading and learning to synthesize the material (Brod, 2020). Not all generative learning strategies have equal success. Breitwieser and Brod (2021) found that generating predictions and examples were two of the best strategies to increase memory in students. Questioning and graphic organizers also increase student memory when compared to other generative learning strategies (Ponce et al., 2020).

Reading Comprehension

Reading comprehension is the processing of the material being read through the utilization of one's cognitive skills. Students who are aware of the processes necessary for reading comprehension can utilize strategies that align with their comprehension goals, therefore increasing their reading comprehension abilities (Cartwright & Duke, 2023). Reading, in and of itself, is not an inherent human skill. Reading and reading comprehension must be explicitly taught (İlter, 2019; Sousa, 2022).

Reading requires one's brain to actively engage multiple neural systems to successfully comprehend what is being read. Students must use their visual processing skills to see the word, auditory skills to sound the word out in their heads, and then their frontal lobe helps build the understanding (Sousa, 2022). These processes happen almost subconsciously for skilled readers,
such as educators. However, it does not happen as seamlessly for students. The utilization of multiple neural systems is generally a difficult skill to master, but can potentially be impossible for students who are not made aware of what is required of them (Cartwright & Duke, 2023; Mangen & Pirhonen, 2022). Students must be able to recognize shortcomings when reading a text, meaning they must be self-aware enough to realize when they do not understand and be able to utilize specific strategies to remedy that issue (Frankel et al., 2019).

As students age and progress through the educational system, the materials they are exposed to increase in difficulty. This presents a concern for students who struggle with reading comprehension due to having never been explicitly taught the skill or being unable to master the skill (Reyes & Bishop, 2019). Higher text complexity and the expectation of learning through independent reading as students enter secondary school leads to more interest in reading comprehension in middle grades and higher (Clemens et al., 2021). This skill must be taught to students as a process that guides readers with goals that are achieved by actively engaging in the text (Cho et al., 2022).

Teachers must be prepared to teach these reading skills for the instruction to be beneficial. Professional development has been shown to provide teachers with the confidence and skills needed to effectively teach reading skills (Tiba, 2023). Medina et al. (2021) found that teachers who participated in a sustained professional development schedule to teach reading skills felt that they were more knowledgeable about the strategies. They also noted that they saw changes in their students' behavior during the reading lessons. Kimhi et al., (2022) reported similar findings. Teachers were provided with need-based professional development that focused on research-based comprehension strategies. The teachers in this study also reported an improvement in their students' reading comprehension skills and shared that they felt more competent as educators. These studies reveal that teachers who are prepared through specific professional development can effectively teach these reading skills and better serve their students.

Studies have shown that students who were explicitly taught reading strategies and comprehension skills scored higher on post-tests than those who did not (Dugasa et al., 2022; Li et al., 2022; Peng et al., 2023). Li et al. (2022) found that the experimental group significantly outperformed the control group when tested on reading comprehension ability after reading strategy instruction. Dugasa et al. (2022) found similar results, reporting that students who were exposed to explicit strategy instruction were better able to respond to higher-order thinking questions. Peng et al. (2023) discovered that the number of strategies taught was not as important as the quality of the teaching. Students who received more strategies in their instruction did not necessarily perform higher, but rather the right combination of strategies increased student scores (Peng et al., 2023).

Reading Strategies

Reading strategies are designed to provide students with a framework of steps required to actively engage and process the material being learned. These strategies can be considered an internal conversation that has the purpose of helping the learner understand what is important and build a schema for the material (Sun et al., 2021; Yapp et al., 2021). When conducting their meta-analysis, Yapp et al. (2021) developed a list of ten core reading strategies. They are as follows:

- Activation of background knowledge helps support learning.
- Context clues help readers guess meanings of words or phrases.
- Semantic mapping helps readers create meaning-based connections.

- Making predictions requires readers to think ahead, making the process more efficient.
- Creating visual images allows readers to engage more with the text.
- Skimming and scanning through the text allows readers to focus on important information.
- Utilizing subheadings, headings, and images helps build a holistic understanding.
- Connecting new and existing knowledge encourages inferencing and long-term memory storage.
- Asking questions while reading encourages a deeper understanding and anticipation of the outcome.
- Recognizing the text structure and signal words allows the reader to gain a deeper understanding of the logical structure of the text.

Variations of these skills are found in multiple other studies as well (Duke & Cartwright, 2021; Li et al., 2022; Peng et al., 2023; Sun et al., 2021). All the strategies guide students through one of the three critical thinking skills: understanding, analyzing, and evaluating (Dugasa et al., 2022). These skills are necessary for building the framework for reading comprehension. However, the combination of the strategies is imperative to their success. The methods in which these strategies are employed are also key in building reading comprehension (Peng et al., 2023).

Students learn differently, meaning the strategies that resonate with them will also be different from others. Students who are engaged in a strategy or combination of strategies in a way that is conducive to the way their brain processes information are more likely to learn the material (Frankel et al., 2019). The utilization of various teaching methods and cognitive load reduction strategies will increase student comprehension. These can include retelling and graphic

organizers to help off-load information (Peng et al., 2023). Other methods can include verbal ques from the instructor and modeling (Elston et al., 2022).

Changes in technology have created new strategies that students can use for better reading comprehension. Education has moved from paper and pencil to digital experiences, reading and writing skills included. Students are engaging in reading differently than before; teachers must adapt their strategies to best support the change (Jian, 2022). Digital texts provide the opportunity for students to engage with the material using hypertext, specific highlighting, and a difference in text navigation (Lebedeva, 2022; Mangen & Pirhonen, 2022).

Digital texts also require students to utilize traditional reading skills in a new way. Students can access multiple texts related to a topic digitally, requiring their cognitive processes to work differently than if the material was on paper (Park et al., 2020). Teachers have adjusted for this new cognitive load requirement by utilizing tools such as interactive games and segmenting classes into smaller sections (Pongsatornpipat, 2022). Augmented reality has also been studied as a tool to assist students with digital reading comprehension (Shaaban & Mohamed, 2023).

However, research has not fully supported the transition to digital reading technologies. Screen time has been shown to decrease student concentration and attention span, lowering the cognitive processes required for reading comprehension (Mangen & Pirhonen, 2022). When compared, students who were provided the material in print scored higher on reading comprehension questions than those who were provided digital versions of the same material (Jian, 2022). Ben-Yehudah and Eshet-Alkalai (2021) found similar results when studying if the medium congruency affected comprehension scores. They found that incongruent media was not as influential on the comprehension scores, but that participants who were exposed to the digital format of the material scored less than those exposed to the print version.

Reading Comprehension and Memory

When asked, students stated that comprehension meant the ability to remember or retain key information from the text (Frankel et al., 2019). Researchers have studied the connection between student memory and reading comprehension skills. Reading comprehension requires students to synthesize materials and determine the relevance of information (Rusdiansyah, 2019). These skills utilize a student's executive functionality, meaning that they must have built these abilities up to successfully process the information. The reading comprehension process occurs within the working memory realm and takes up quite a bit of space. Higher executive functioning skills are necessary for adequate reading comprehension to occur (Nouwens et al., 2021).

Students who have higher executive functions, such as shifting and working memory, can be more successful with reading comprehension tasks (Brunfaut et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2020). Working memory has been shown to have direct implications on reading comprehension skills (Nouwens et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2020). Students with higher working memory abilities can recall information more effectively (Schunk, 2020; Willis & Willis, 2020). Students must be able to allocate their limited working memory functions to the process of comprehension to successfully decipher and fully understand the information (Cho et al., 2022).

Semantic knowledge and abilities have been found to impact reading comprehension. Students who have more background knowledge and can connect what they are reading to their existing knowledge are more likely to comprehend what they are reading (Nouwens et al., 2017). Students who can relate to the material they are reading are more likely to show a higher reading comprehension (Frankel et al., 2019). Semantic knowledge also provides students with a foundation needed to predict information, which is a key strategy in reading comprehension (Reyes & Bishop, 2019).

Reading Comprehension and Note-Taking

Note-taking is a strategy that teachers can use to help students off-load some of the information being processed by their short-term memory. This allows more information to be processed quickly (Paas & van Merriënboer, 2020; Willis & Willis, 2020). Students who are encouraged to take notes during reading are more likely to have the mental capacity needed to adequately comprehend the material (Rusdiansyah, 2019). It can be argued that note-taking in and of itself can be a form of comprehension, through the determination of key ideas and the construction of meaning from the information presented when creating notes (Frankel et al., 2019).

Doodling

Doodling has been associated with mind-wandering and boredom but can also be associated with education and psychology. Doodling consists of sketches made when one's mind is preoccupied or wandering (Sundararaman, 2020). When a student's brain is not stimulated enough, one can begin to daydream, and one's mind may wander. This results in students not processing the lesson heard, and therefore not learning the material. Some students begin doodling while listening to a lecture. Doodling is shown to prevent daydreaming and help keep a student's mind on task with what they are hearing or reading (Andrade, 2010; Tadayon & Afhami, 2017).

Doodling is an effective way to give a student a *brain break* and allow creativity to creep into the monotony of a lecture or a specific lesson. Students who are permitted to doodle during class are more likely to keep their brains engaged with the content while they are drawing mindless images (Sundararaman, 2020). Doodling works during auditory lessons because students utilize their brains' verbal and visual portions (Sundararaman, 2020). This allows for cross-lateral interactions, resulting in higher neurological connections being made and memories being formed with more solidity (Schunk, 2020). The more connections made within the brain, the higher chance of recall (Willis & Willis, 2020).

Doodling to Reduce Stress

Adolescents have developing executive functions and are less likely to be able to manage stress as well as adults (Cumming et al., 2019). When students are overly stressed, information does not transfer to the prefrontal cortex where it can be stored (Willis & Willis, 2020). Mindfulness activities have been studied to reduce stress in adults and students (Barnes et al., 2019; Cumming et al., 2019). Doodling and coloring are commonly considered activities. Coloring has reduced stress levels in adults in various situations, including work environments and health concerns (Barnes et al., 2019; Ramos Salazar, 2019; Turturro & Drake, 2022). Spontaneous doodling has been shown to help adults feel less anxious (Nash, 2021).

Doodling as an Art Form

Doodling also adds a visual component to learning, promoting an artistic activity tied with a verbal or auditory activity. Creative activities, such as doodling and other art forms, have improved academic achievement (Tadayon & Afhami, 2017). Images linked to verbal information have also improved recall and achievement. Farley et al. (2014) studied the impact of associating lexical items with visual images on student recall. They found that students who were provided an image and the word could remember the word and meaning at a higher rate than those who were just supplied the word. Even using a delayed post-test, students in the picture group could perform higher than those in the non-picture group (Farley et al., 2014). Intertwining the concept of note-taking and art through doodling creates a connection between the two that builds an emotional impact. Lewis and Moffett (2020) studied how notetaking interrupted the learning process. These researchers found that students who were given the freedom to doodle while taking notes had an interesting collaboration between the two. They discussed how notes were generally verbal and tended to hold a more public connotation, while doodles were images and art that carried a more private connotation. They also looked at how notes turned into doodles and vice versa. These images result in an encoding process that is like words holding meaning. The images doodled by the students had a specific meaning concerning the content (Lewis & Moffett, 2020). This action allows the encoding process to assign meaning to the content created and defined by the art created by the student, leading to a higher likelihood of the content being stored in long-term memory (Nayar & Koul, 2019).

Learning by Doing

The concept of *learning by doing*, where students draw an image to represent a definition, has been shown to have higher recall rates than students who simply wrote out the definition (Wammes et al., 2017). Andrade (2010) found that adults who participated in doodling while listening to a phone call about party guests were able to remember more of the guests' names than the control group who did not doodle. It was concluded that doodling is a tool that can assist concentration (Andrade, 2010) and that utilizing doodling as an undemanding secondary task can increase memory (Sundararaman, 2020). It is evident from these studies that doodling can be categorized as an artistic, secondary activity during a task that requires a higher concentration on verbal or auditory processing.

Other examples of students creating pictorial notes have been shown to increase student recall and achievement. Ziadat (2021) studied the use of sketch noting in mathematics education

as a tool to assist students with dyscalculia. He found that students who utilized the sketch noting process scored higher on the post-test on mathematical words. Another study found that students who were able to use verbal and pictographic notes showed improvement between pre- and post-test results (Clark & Mayer, 2016; Peterson et al., 2021).

Doodling and Recall

Multiple studies have been done to inform researchers about the impact of doodling on recall and memory. It is accepted that pictures are more quickly remembered than words (Wammes et al., 2017). These studies often compared a group of students who doodled while listening to a lecture versus those who did not. Sundararaman (2020) studied the impact of doodling during lessons on high school students. The findings suggested that students who doodled during the lecture had higher academic performance and memory retention. The researcher determined that students who were permitted more extended periods of free doodling result in more *naturalistic doodling* and allowed students to maintain focus on the lecture being presented (Sundararaman, 2020).

Studies have also found that students reported fewer instances of daydreaming or mindwandering than students who were not permitted to doodle (Ali et al., 2021; Sundararaman, 2020). Sundararaman (2020) explained that the students who doodled during the lecture could utilize their total encoding capacity by adding the mindless doodling task to maintain focus on the material being taught. These findings supported other research that showed that a secondary task, such as doodling while participating in a primary task like a lecture or reading, resulted in higher recall and kept the students engaged (Nayar & Koul, 2019).

Doodling can also be used as a strategy for students who are considered English language learners. Ali et al. (2021) conducted a study to determine the impact of doodling on the reading comprehension of high school students. The findings showed a significant difference between the scores of students in the treatment group compared to those in the control group. The researchers determined that doodling is a more effective and preferred strategy than traditional methods of teaching reading comprehension (Ali et al., 2021).

Despite the positive correlations found in studies, other studies have found that some types of doodling do not affect memory and recall. Meade et al. (2019) conducted an experimental study and suggested that the type of doodling impacted the recall ability. Unstructured doodling led to worse memory recall than other note-taking forms. This idea contradicts other studies but guides future research, including the present study. Singh and Kashyap (2014) also found that doodling had no significant impact on recall or recognition. However, significant covariates were listed as limitations that could have hindered the study. These findings suggest that structured or guided doodling in a controlled environment may prove more successful.

Structured vs. Non-Structured Doodling

Overall, doodling as a teaching strategy to improve memory is supported by research. Drawing can lead to high psychological engagement when the drawing does not overwhelm the student's cognitive load (Clark & Mayer, 2016). However, there is a debate between using structured and non-structured doodling. Structured doodling is where students are expected to shade in specific shapes and fill out a given sheet, such as guided doodle notes. Non-structured doodling is when students are allowed to free draw and create the doodles themselves.

Structured and unstructured doodling positively impacts memory and recall (Nayar & Koul, 2019; Sundararaman, 2020). Non-structured doodling does not have as high a success rate as structured doodling. Unstructured doodling has been found to decrease recall ability. Boggs et

al. (2017) conducted a study meant to increase the validity of a previous study that supported doodling as a method of recall improvement. Andrade (2010) gave the participants a structured doodle task while listening to an auditory stimulus. Boggs et al. (2017) added to this idea by adding an unstructured doodling group. It was found that unstructured doodling led to a decrease in recall when compared to participants who completed note-taking and structured doodles.

Another study found similar results. Meade et al. (2019) also compared the impact of structured doodling, unstructured doodling, and writing on student recall. It was concluded that writing and structured doodling provided a higher recall than unstructured doodling. They theorized that these findings resulted from the required cognitive focus of unstructured doodling. Students who are allowed to free draw during a lesson must decide what to draw. This decision-making process utilizes too much of the brain's focus, and students are putting more energy into their doodles rather than maintaining focus on the lecture. This is known as the *bottleneck effect* and explains that multi-tasking is only successful when the tasks do not compete for cognitive function (Sundararaman, 2020). Not only does having students generate their own drawings require too much extraneous processing, but it can also result in inaccurate drawings (Clark & Mayer, 2016).

Structured doodling has been shown to have similar recall effects as traditional notetaking. Providing students with a guided version of doodles removes the possibility of too much cognitive requirement and transitions the task into a mindless activity. Nayar and Koul (2019) found that students who participated in structured doodling had similar recall ability to those who did note-taking. They theorized that structured doodling and note-taking provided similar stimulation to prevent mind-wandering and daydreaming. Wammes et al. (2017) discovered that students who drew the meaning of words had similar results on a memory test as students who paraphrased the meaning of the words. Both practices required encoding strategies. They discussed how the process of drawing the meaning of a word requires students to transform that definition into a different form, enhancing the encoding process and increasing memory. Other studies have supported this explanation. Huang et al. (2021) found that video notes enhanced memory because students were reformatting the learned material. The researcher provided the participants with a guideline or structure for their notes, and the results supported using this educational strategy.

Summary

Dual coding theory explains how visual and verbal learning impact memory. Developed by Allan Paivio (1974), the theory answers the question of how the brain stores information in memory. The theory provides an important foundation for connecting the verbal and non-verbal aspects of learning to enhance memory (Clark & Paivio, 1991). The use of both verbal and visual stimuli, such as with doodle note-taking, provides students with a stronger coding process and enhances the likelihood of the material being stored in their long-term memory (Nayar & Koul, 2019; Paivio, 2014).

Understanding dual coding is just one part of the puzzle when trying to understand the way the brain stores information. One must gain a deeper understanding of learning processes as well. Learning occurs when students move information from their short-term memory to their long-term memory and form neural connections (Schunk, 2020; Willis & Willis, 2020). Educators must appeal to the three cognitive processes and find a successful balance when attempting to maximize learning and student engagement (Clark & Mayer, 2016).

Learning material, however, relies on memory and the student's ability to store information in their long-term memory. The working memory, or short-term memory, is a smaller bank where students must make sense of the information before they can move the material into their long-term memory (Schunk, 2020). The idea that working memory can be overloaded is something that educators must take into consideration when planning learning experiences. Students who are experiencing cognitive overload are more likely to become frustrated, hindering their learning process (Clark & Mayer, 2016). The cognitive overload results in a higher stress level, creating an increase in cortisol in the body, causing impairment in the ability to store information in long-term memory (M. Marin et al., 2019; McManus et al., 2022).

Offloading information helps when processing what information is coming in and what information needs to be stored in long-term memory. Offloading strategies, such as note-taking, are used to lessen the cognitive load when presenting new information (Dong et al., 2022). Note-taking can be used to help students maintain a reasonable level of information in their short-term memory as well as utilize multiple cognitive skills and build stronger neural connections (Boggs et al., 2017; Makany et al., 2009; Nayar & Koul, 2019). Note-taking strategies are tried and confirmed in the world of education to increase recall and memory in students (Boggs et al., 2017; Makany et al., 2009; Nayar & Koul, 2019; Sundararaman, 2020; Wong & Lim, 2021). This strategy has also been shown to increase reading comprehension (Brunfaut et al., 2021).

However, students must be taught how to take notes for that strategy to be successful. Note-taking requires a handful of cognitive skills that may be difficult for students to process while also attempting to learn the material presented (İlter, 2019). Research has shown that students will often take notes that are incomplete or are not representative of the material being taught (Ponce et al., 2020). Free note-taking requires students to differentiate between relevant and non-relevant information, resulting in notes that consist of arbitrary words or phrases that do not make sense (Rusdiansyah, 2019).

Providing students with outlines or guidance during note-taking has shown to be effective when teaching students how to take notes (Colliot et al., 2021; Ward & Vengrin, 2021). Students who are provided with guided notes have also been shown to be more engaged with the material (Biggers & Luo, 2020). Guided notes can be presented in verbal or visual forms. Visual guided notes, or graphic organizers, help outline the information and provide a structure for the note-taking process (Allen et al., 2020; Colliot & Jamet, 2020).

Graphic organizers are a type of generative learning strategy. Generative learning strategies are designed to support learning through the integration of new material and the promotion of active engagement (Clark & Mayer, 2016). Graphic organizers have been shown to increase student memory when compared to other generative learning strategies (Ponce et al., 2020). Students who are encouraged to engage in generative learning strategies are more likely to comprehend and synthesize new information (Brod, 2020).

Doodling can be considered a form of graphic organizer. Doodling while taking in information also results in an increased recall of that information (Andrade, 2010; Farley et al., 2014; Lewis & Moffett, 2020; Nayar & Koul, 2019; Schunk, 2020; Sundararaman, 2020; Tadayon & Afhami, 2017; Wammes et al., 2017). Structured doodling has been studied and shown to be a good strategy for increasing memory and recall in student learning (Ali et al., 2021; Nayar & Koul, 2019; Sundararaman, 2020). Structured doodling allows more focus on the material being taught than non-structured doodling because of the concept of cognitive load (Nayar & Koul, 2019; Sundararaman, 2020; Wammes et al., 2017). Supported drawing, or the generation of drawings from instructor-provided elements, is recommended as to not overwhelm the learner's cognitive load (Clark & Mayer, 2016). Teachers can use this information to provide another option for their students when deciding how they will take notes (Ali et al., 2021).

The literature available suggests future research on the combination of learning tools, including doodling and note-taking, specifically in the humanities courses that provide more opportunities for this blending to be successful (Nayar & Koul, 2019; Zeyab et al., 2020). Creating patterns in doodling, such as guided doodle notes, is recommended (Sundararaman, 2020; Tadayon & Afhami, 2017). It is also recommended to study the impact of doodle note-taking on younger students (Ali et al., 2021). The use of these doodling techniques in a real-world setting rather than a lab has also been suggested (Boggs et al., 2017; Meade et al., 2019). The present study explored the gaps presented by researching middle school students in their natural learning environment using pre-made guided doodle notes during class sessions.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

The purpose of this quantitative, quasi-experimental nonequivalent control-group study was to explore the impact of guided doodle note-taking strategies on student reading comprehension. The chapter begins by introducing the design of the study, including full definitions of all variables. The research questions and null hypotheses follow. The participants and setting, instrumentation, procedures, and data analysis plans are presented.

Design

This study used a quantitative, quasi-experimental nonequivalent control-group design. This design was chosen due to the nonrandomized nature of the group selection as well as the use of pre- and post-tests (Gall et al., 2007). Similar studies have been conducted using a format of this design, such as a quasi-experimental, pretest-posttest-delayed posttest design used in Chen et al. (2017). This study utilized the same non-equivalent comparison groups as Chen et al. (2017) as well.

Table 1

Nonequivalent Control-Group Design

	Pre-Test	Treatment	Post-Test
Written Notes	0	X1	0
Doodle Notes	0	X_2	0

Limitations of this design were considered. Utilizing a nonrandomized experimental design presents concerns regarding the validity of the study. Existing differences between the two treatment groups could lead to results that are not attributed to the treatment (Miller et al.,

2019). The implementation of the pre- and post-tests was used to counteract the potential concerns to internal validity. This allowed for the treatment to maintain the focus of the study (Gall et al., 2007). Other procedures implemented to maintain validity include utilization of one grade level and the use of a tested, reliable, and valid instrument.

This design falls under the causal-comparative research design category. The cause being considered is the independent variable, or the note-taking strategy, while the effect is the dependent variable, or the student reading comprehension skills. Due to the uncontrollable differences in students involved in the study, a pre- and post-test design will be utilized to attempt to control the covariates (Gall et al., 2007). These covariates include academic ability and previous knowledge. These covariates are unable to be controlled by the researcher during the study.

The group that received the guided verbal notes served as the control group. This was selected because the teachers at the school being studied utilized guided verbal notes regularly. Guided verbal notes are partially completed note pages assigned to students during class to increase note-taking skills and provide students with quality material for future studying (Chen et al., 2017; Feudel & Panse, 2021). The students involved in the research were familiar with this concept. The group who received the guided doodle notes served as the treatment group. The guided doodle notes were a new concept to the students; they did not have any prior experience with this strategy. Guided doodles notes are similar guided verbal notes, with the addition of premade doodles printed on the page. Doodles are defined as drawings that are dissimilar to the task at hand (Meade et al., 2019; Sundararaman, 2020).

Other studies utilized an experimental pre- and post-test design and were able to randomize the group assignments (Ali et al., 202; Boggs et al., 2017). Due to the setting of this

study, randomization of the groups was not possible. This limitation resulted in the use of the quasi-experimental design (Gall et al., 2007). However, the use of the pretest-posttest design was utilized to mitigate the threats of internal validity (Gall et al., 2007). The independent variable was the note-taking strategy. Two groups were studied. The first group utilized a traditional guided note-taking strategy using verbal notes, while the second group utilized the guided doodle note-taking strategy. Guided notes are partially completed note pages assigned to students during class to increase note-taking skills and provide students with quality material for future studying (Chen et al., 2017; Feudel & Panse, 2021). The guided notes used were provided by the researcher to allow for consistency. The dependent variable was the students' reading comprehension, or the students' abilities to create meaning from the text through personal interactions and other engagement (Frankel et al., 2019), as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale.

Research Questions

This study was designed to answer the following research questions:

RQ1: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between all students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

RQ2: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between female students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

RQ3: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between male students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

Hypotheses

This study examined the impact of doodle note-taking strategies on student reading comprehension. Past studies have concluded mixed results on the use of doodle note-taking strategies. There are claims that unstructured or unguided doodling results in significantly worse comprehension (Boggs et al., 2017). Other studies found that structured doodling and traditional notetaking are similar in reading comprehension (Nayar & Koul, 2019). This study considered the differences between a commonly used tool in education, guided written notes (Hamilton et al., 2000; Konrad et al., 2011; Lefki et al., 2019) and the experimental treatment of guided doodle notes.

The null hypotheses for this study were:

Ho1: There is no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between all students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge.

H₀2: There is no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between female students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge

H₀3: There is no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between male students who complete

guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge.

Participants and Setting

This section details the participants and setting of the research study. The selected population, location, and grouping are explained.

Population

The population studied was middle school students in the Piedmont of North Carolina. The participants for the study were drawn from a convenience sample of middle school students during the spring semester of the 2023- 2024 school year. The school was in a larger school district, and this school had a high population of students living in poverty. The sample of students was selected due to the accessibility of the researcher. The students were enrolled in different classes at the same grade level. Each class was a seventh-grade English language arts class. The student grouping was considered average, with all students falling within a normal distribution of each other.

Participants

For this study, the number of participants sampled was 101, which exceeded the required minimum when assuming a medium effect size. The sample size required for the analysis of covariance is 94, for experimental studies when assuming a medium effect size with statistical power of 0.80 at the .05 alpha level (Bujang et al., 2017; Faul et al., 2009). The sample came from one of 15 middle schools in the district. Students were selected from one grade level. This means that every student in the study had been taught the same specific standards. All students involved in the study were enrolled in the selected school's seventh-grade English language arts classes.

The groups were selected using convenience sampling due to the researcher's inability to control class assignments (Gall et al., 2007). The control group was enrolled in two teachers' classes, while the treatment groups were enrolled in one teacher's classes. Each class ranged from 19-31 students. The school utilized a block schedule with class periods were around ninety minutes each. Due to the researcher's inability to control the class schedules, the sample was predetermined and participated in the study at the predetermined time of their class. These limitations were considered in the data analysis.

All students were considered of low socio-economic status and have similar backgrounds. The sample consisted of 51 males and 50 females between the ages of 11 and 14 who were enrolled in a seventh-grade class. The students had a variety of cultural backgrounds. See Table 2 for a breakdown of student race and ethnicity of the entire school population. The school had a total of 760 students, with 256 of those being placed in the seventh grade (National Center for Education Statistics, 2022). The students ranged in ability level, from students identified with learning disabilities to those who have been identified as gifted and talented. The sample groups provide a well-rounded representation of the population being studied.

Table 2

	American Indian/Alaskan Native	Asian	Black	Hispanic	Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	White	Two or more races
Students	1	36	246	254	3	146	77

Race and Ethnicity of School

Setting

The study was conducted in a public K-12 setting. The participants were selected based on class assignments of one grade level. The control and treatment groups were enrolled in different periods for the course, but the course was the same for all classes. The courses were taught face-to-face with no hybrid option. The students had access to one-to-one Chromebooks during class. Each course ran throughout the entire 2023-2024 school year. The pre- and posttests took place during the assigned class time.

The school was situated in what is considered a larger suburban area, but locally considered a smaller city. The middle school considered was one of 15 in the district. The school had 763 students total in grades 6 through 8. Minority groups made up 81% of the school's population. There were roughly equal amounts of female and male students, with the percentages being 49% and 51%, respectively. The school did not meet expectations for reading. The reading proficiency of the students was 30%, which was lower than the district's average (U.S. News, n.d.).

Instrumentation

This study utilized the reading comprehension scale as the instrument for review. The instrument is described, and the development is discussed. The reliability and validity of the instruments is provided.

Students were given the Reading Comprehension Scale for the pre- and post-tests (Velasco & Villanueva, 2022). The Reading Comprehension Scale is a 13-item self-report instrument that measures the reading comprehension skills of middle school students. See Appendix B for the instrument. The instrument utilizes a Likert scale model with choices ranging from 1, representing never, to 4, representing every time. The scale was scored by adding the selected answers to result in a total. The subsections, advanced and basic dimensions, of the instrument are scored separately (Velasco & Villanueva, 2022). The purpose of this instrument was to determine if students recognized appropriate reading comprehension skills following the lecture.

The Reading Comprehension Scale was developed to fill the gap of valid and reliable reading comprehension measures for middle school students. Velasco and Villanueva (2022) developed the scale using eighth grade students, resulting in an instrument that was well designed for this study's population. The scale utilizes four themes usually considered in reading comprehension: applied, interpretive, affective, and lexical. The researchers recommended the use of the tool in English classes and with the Department of Education (Velasco & Villanueva, 2022). Due to the instrument's age, the tool had not been utilized in many studies. However, the reliability and validity of the instrument provided reassurance of the instrument's appropriateness of use.

This instrument was tested and statistically confirmed as reliable and valid. Cronbach's alpha and the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy are used to determine validity and reliability of an instrument (Gall et al., 2007; McCoach et al., 2013). Cronbach's alpha is 0.639 for the advanced dimension and 0.569 for the basic dimension. See Velasco and Villanueva (2022) for the breakdown of each item's results. The average of these two scores is 0.610, which falls between the suggested range of 0.60 and 0.70. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure is 0.734 for the instrument. A good value ranges between 0.70 and 0.80, showing that this instrument is considered to have appropriate sampling (Velasco & Villanueva, 2022).

The researchers also utilized Bartlett's Test of Sphericity to ensure that the variables considered were related. This test ranges from 0 to 1, with 0 being highly related (Shrestha,

2021). The researchers used a Chi-Square test with degrees of freedom. The Chi-Square score is listed as 1408.237 and the Degrees of Freedom are listed as 465. This resulted in a Bartlett's Test p-value < 0.001. This is highly significant when considering a 0.01 level of significance (Velasco & Villanueva, 2022).

The development of the instrument was detailed in Velasco and Villanueva's (2022) article. They discussed the elimination of items to ensure construct validity. The researchers administered their original scale to 476 students and interviewed a sample of 15 students to get more information about their scale items. The researchers narrowed the scale down to 31 items, then followed the same procedure. Finally, the scale was brought down to the final 13 items. The researchers used the Lawshe method to compute the content validity ratio of each item (Velasco & Villanueva, 2022).

The Lawshe method utilizes a range, similar to a Likert scale, that allows for expert raters to determine the essential components of an instrument. The developers then use a formula to determine the content validity ratio for each of their items (Baghestani et al., 2017). The researchers used five experts to rate the items. Each item was scored as an excellent fit or essential by four out of five of the experts (Velasco & Villanueva, 2022).

The Reading Comprehension Scale was scored digitally using the online tool and provided a sum of student choices. Higher sums meant that students had a higher reading comprehension while lower sums indicated students had less reading comprehension. This eliminated the need for tester training and increased inter-tester reliability (Gall et al., 2007). The use of the online tool prevented careless errors as well as mistakes made by students. The online tool was created by the researcher and checked by the research committee before implementation to ensure that no errors were made. The instrument administration took approximately 10-15 minutes each time. Permission to utilize the instrument and implement using online tools had been obtained (See Appendix B).

Procedures

IRB Permission was sought from Liberty University. See Appendix C for complete IRB permission. Due to the participants being minor children, permission was needed from their guardians. Permission was sought from the school district and guardians of the students involved using parental consent form. See Appendix D for forms of consent from the guardians of the participants.

The classroom teachers were the sole administrators for the pre-test, the lecture, and the post-test. All parts that required student input and participation took place in their regularly scheduled class period. Make-up testing for the pre- and post-tests was discussed prior to administration of the instrument. Students who are absent during the lecture period were removed from the data.

The classroom teacher was prepped for implementation prior to students being involved. The teacher received training regarding how to include the link to the pre- and post-tests on their learning management system page. They were also provided a pre-made video lecture slideshow of reading comprehension strategies to utilize. The video lecture slideshow was used to ensure as much continuity as possible between classes. See Appendix E for slideshow.

Students were assigned a numerical code to ensure anonymity. The teacher provided each student with their specific code. The researcher was not provided the identifying information, such as names of students, but instead only received the information with the code as the identifier. Students were instructed to enter their numerical code instead of one's name when taking the pre- and post-tests. Students completed the pre-test in regularly scheduled classes. The researcher provided the teachers with both the control group's guided written notes and the treatment group's guided doodle notes. The teachers taught the selected reading comprehension skills to all classes in the same manner using the provided video lecture. Students took notes using their prescribed treatment. The lecture took place one day following the administration of the pre-test.

Two formats of guided notes were used in this study. The traditional version of guided notes utilized a fill-in-the-blank method of teacher provided notes and served as the control group note option. This format of guided notes is supported by research and has been shown to increase the accuracy of student notes (Chen et al., 2017; Konrad et al., 2011). The second version of the guided notes was the doodle notes and served as the experimental treatment. These doodle notes were structured, similarly to Andrade (2010) and Sundararaman (2020) but consisted of information related to the topic being taught. See Appendix A for the guided notes.

The guided notes consisted of typical strategies for reading comprehension. These skills were researched and determined to increase reading comprehension. Skills include understanding best practices for reading, such as making predictions and considering the title as a method of determining the main idea (Velasco & Villanueva, 2022). The notes correlated with the lecture presented by the video lecture.

The post-test occurred two days after the lesson was taught. This provided students with time to make up any material if there were absences and provided the teacher with time to prepare the post-test link on the learning management system. The students took the post-test in their regularly scheduled English language arts class time. They utilized their previously assigned numerical code to identify themselves rather than by name. The researcher received their post-tests with their numerical code in order to match it with their pre-test results to compare.

Both pre- and post-tests were given using Google Forms. The information was worded exactly as the Reading Comprehension Skills inventory was printed, with the options 1-4 being provided for the students to select. The instructions for the assessment were provided in print on the online form and verbally by the teacher. The results of both pre- and post-tests were seen only by the researcher and the committee members. The researcher kept the data in a password protected file on her personal computer. No data was sent to the researcher with identifying student information. See Appendix F for screenshots of the online tool.

Data Analysis

The data was analyzed using an analysis of covariance or ANCOVA. This test is considered because the research compares two groups and determines the impact of a treatment, but may involve covariates (Gall et al., 2007). Having two covariates, academic ability and previous knowledge, requires the use of a factorial ANCOVA (Boslaugh, 2012). There was no true control group since the students all needed some form of note-taking in a classroom setting. The group assigned the guided verbal notes served as the control group since the students were familiar with this note-taking strategy already. The study was compared using the conventional alpha α level of .05. It is recommended that an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) is conducted to maintain the internal validity of the quasi-experimental nonequivalent control-group design. This analysis helped lessen the impact of outside variables on the study (Gall et al., 2007).

The use of ANCOVA requires certain assumptions to be met. The variables being considered were independent of each other and create linear models. The groups considered were equal in size and assumed a multinormal distribution. These factors allowed for the integrity of the analysis to be maintained (Backhous et al., 2021). The assumption of homogeneity of regression was also considered (Gall et al., 2007).

Data screening included visual screening for missing and inaccurate entries. Outliers were checked using a box and whisker plot. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used for the assumption of normality. This was selected due to the smaller sample size (Laerd Statistics, 2017). Scatter plots were used for the pre- and post-tests to check for linearity and bivariate normal distribution. Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variance was used to check for assumption of equal variance. The null hypothesis was rejected at the 95% confidence level. A partial eta square test was used to determine the effect size of the final participant count.

Various descriptive statistics, including mean, median, and standard deviations, were calculated. Post-hoc analyses were conducted as necessary. Confidence intervals were analyzed to determine a true difference between the intervention and the control group. The means of the pre-tests were compared to those of the post-tests to confirm statistical differences. These were compared using F ratios. A series of t tests were conducted to compare multiple data points for significant differences (Gall et al., 2007).

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

This chapter contains the results of the quantitative, quasi-experimental nonequivalent control-group study conducted to answer the research questions listed. The research questions and null hypotheses are listed to provide context. Included in this information are the descriptive statistics and results of the one-way ANCOVA analysis performed.

Research Questions

RQ1: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between all students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

RQ2: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between female students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

RQ3: Is there a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between male students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge?

Null Hypotheses

Ho1: There is no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between all students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge.

H₀2: There is no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between female students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge

H₀**3:** There is no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between male students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge.

Descriptive Statistics

The data was separated into three sets to allow for analysis to reflect the specific requirements of each research question. The first set, looking to answer RQ1, considered all the data collected. The second set, looking to answer RQ2, considered only the data collected from female students. The third set, looking to answer RQ3, considered only the data collected from the male students. The results are presented by each research question in the sections below. Data was unadjusted mean \pm standard deviation, unless otherwise stated.

RQ1

Participants were separated into two groups, control and experimental, based on their classroom assignment. One teacher was given the doodle notes sheet for their students to complete during the lecture while the other two teachers were given the guided written notes sheet for their students to complete. Forty-five students completed the doodle notes and 56 students completed written guided notes. The doodle notes group scored higher on the post-test on average (M = 40.22, SD = 4.77) than the guided notes group (M = 39, SD = 5.34). The doodle notes group had a smaller range of numbers, spanning 19 points (range: 30-49), with an IQR of

7. The guided notes group had a larger range, spanning 25 points (range: 25-50), and an IQR of8.

RQ2

The total number of female participants was 50, with 22 students completing doodle notes and 28 students completing guided notes. The female group had an average of 39.38 points (SD = 5.49). The doodle notes group scored higher on the post-test on average (M = 40.68, SD = 5.0) than the guided notes group (M = 38.36, SD = 5.72). The doodle notes group had a smaller range of numbers, spanning 18 points (range: 30-48), with an IQR of 6. The guided notes group had a larger range, spanning 25 points (range: 25-50), and an IQR of 8.

RQ3

The total number of male participants was 51, with 23 students completing doodle notes and 28 students completing guided notes. The male group had an average of 39.72 points (SD =4.75). The doodle notes group scored similarly on the post-test on average (M = 39.78, SD = 4.6) as the guided notes group (M = 39.64, SD = 4.95). The ranges of the groups were also similar, with the doodle notes group range spanning 19 points (range: 30-49) with an IQR of 7 and the guided notes group range spanning 18 points (range: 31-49) with an IQR of 8.

Results

The data was separated into three sets to allow for analysis to reflect the specific requirements of each research question, as in the descriptive statistics section above. The results are presented by each research question in the sections below.

RQ1 Results

RQ1 considers data collected from all students. The null hypothesis for this question states that there is no statistically significant difference between the self-reported reading

comprehension skills of students who completed guided written notes compared to students who completed doodle notes when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge. An ANCOVA was used to analyze the data and determine the significance.

Assumptions for the ANCOVA test were run. The assumption of a linear relationship between pre- and post-intervention self-reporting scores for each note-taking type was met, as assessed by visual inspection of a scatterplot (see Figure 1). The assumption for homogeneity of regression slopes was met, as the interaction term was not statistically significant, p = .254. Standardized residuals for the interventions were normally distributed, as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk's test (p > .05). The assumption of homoscedasticity was met, as assessed by visual inspection of the standardized residuals plotted against the predicted values (see Figure 2). The assumption of homogeneity of variances was met, as assessed by Levene's test of homogeneity of variance (p = .434). One outlier was identified using the standard deviation of ± 3 , with the outlier being exactly 3.00. Despite the violation of this assumption, the researcher determined that the outlier was important to include in the data. It represented a true score from a participant who scored much less on the post-test compared to their score on the pre-test. This event is not unusual when considering the population; therefore, it was determined that the outlier should be included. The outlier was not visually represented on a box and whisker plot, nor did it impact the linearity of the data. Steps were taken to address this violation, including a reflect and square root transformation of the data and consideration of nonparametric analyses. However, neither of the options appropriately represented the data and it was determined that continuing with the ANCOVA analysis was the best option. After adjustment for pre-intervention academic ability and previous knowledge, there was not a statistically significant difference in post-test reading comprehension scores, p = .233, partial $\eta 2 = .014$ (see Table 3). The researcher failed to reject

the null hypothesis, meaning there was no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between all students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge.

Figure 1



Scatterplot of Pre-Test Scores and Post-Test Scores with Regression Lines for RQ1

Figure 2



Scatterplot of Standardized and Predicted Residuals of Post-Test Scores by Notes for RQ1

Table 3

ANCOVA Results for Hol

	Type III Sum of Squares	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
Notes	23.939	1	23.939	1.441	.233	.014

RQ2 Results

RQ2 considered data collected from female students. The null hypothesis for this question states that there is no statistically significant difference between the self-reported reading comprehension skills of female students who completed guided written notes compared

to female students who completed doodle notes when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge. An ANCOVA was used to analyze the data and determine the significance. Assumptions for the ANCOVA test were run. The assumption of a linear relationship between pre- and post-intervention self-reporting scores for each note-taking type was met, as assessed by visual inspection of a scatterplot (see Figure 3). The assumption for homogeneity of regression slopes was not met, as the interaction term was statistically significant, p = .021. The violation of this assumption led to several procedures considered to best address the violation. Transformations were run to test if the data was best displayed using a reflect and square root transformation and nonparametric analysis options were considered. Despite the violation of the assumption, the researcher determined that the ANCOVA was still the appropriate analysis to run. The difference between the groups was small, and the groups were relatively equal. The whole group ANCOVA for RQ1 did not violate the assumption of homogeneity of regression slopes. Also, the scatterplot (see Figure 3) shows that the regression lines are all showing a positive slope and are visually similar. These considerations resulted in the researcher's decision to continue with the ANCOVA analysis (Kirk, 2013). Standardized residuals for the interventions were normally distributed, as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk's test (p > .05). The assumption of homoscedasticity was met, as assessed by visual inspection of the standardized residuals plotted against the predicted values (see Figure 4). The assumption of homogeneity of variances was met, as assessed by Levene's test of homogeneity of variance (p = .720). The assumption that there were no outliers was met, as assessed by no cases with standardized residuals greater than ± 3 standard deviations. After adjustment for pre-intervention academic ability and previous knowledge, there was not a statistically significant difference in post-test reading comprehension scores of female participants, p = .441, partial $\eta 2 = .013$ (see Table 4).

The researcher failed to reject the null hypothesis, meaning there was no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between female students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge.

Figure 3

Scatterplot of Pre-Test Scores and Post-Test Scores with Regression Lines for RQ2


Figure 4



Scatterplot of Standardized and Predicted Residuals of Post-Test Scores by Notes for RQ2

Table 4

ANCOVA Results for Ho2

	Type III Sum of Squares	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
Notes	12.851	1	12.851	.605	.441	.013

RQ3 Results

RQ3 considers data collected from male students. The null hypothesis for this question states that there is no statistically significant difference between the self-reported reading comprehension skills of male students who completed guided written notes compared to male students who completed doodle notes when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge. An ANCOVA was used to analyze the data and determine the significance.

Assumptions for the ANCOVA test were run. The assumption of a linear relationship between pre- and post-intervention self-reporting scores for each note-taking type was met, as assessed by visual inspection of a scatterplot (see Figure 5). The assumption for homogeneity of regression slopes was met, as the interaction term was not statistically significant, p = .358. Standardized residuals for the interventions were normally distributed, as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk's test (p > .05). The assumption of homoscedasticity was met, as assessed by visual inspection of the standardized residuals plotted against the predicted values (see Figure 6). The assumption of homogeneity of variances was met, as assessed by Levene's test of homogeneity of variance (p = .184). There were no outliers in the data, as assessed by no cases with standardized residuals greater than ± 3 standard deviations. After adjustment for pre-intervention academic ability and previous knowledge, there was not a statistically significant difference in post-test reading comprehension scores of male participants, p = .486, partial $\eta 2 = .010$ (see Table 5). The researcher failed to reject the null hypothesis, meaning there was no significant difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills, as measured by the Reading Comprehension Scale, between male students who complete guided doodle notes during lecture and those who complete guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge.

Figure 5



Scatterplot of Pre-Test Scores and Post-Test Scores with Regression Lines for RQ3

Figure 6

Scatterplot of Standardized and Predicted Residuals of Post-Test Scores by Notes for RQ3



Table 5

ANCOVA Results for H₀3

	Type III Sum of Squares	df	MS	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
Notes	6.208	1	6.208	.493	.486	.010

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS

Overview

This chapter discusses the results of the findings. The researcher considers the existing literature and incorporates the findings of this study with what has been presented prior. The researcher provides information regarding the implications as well as details the limitations present. The chapter concludes with recommendations for future research.

Discussion

The purpose of this quantitative, quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control-group study is to explore the impact of guided doodle note-taking strategies on student reading comprehension. The researcher compared the results of a self-reporting tool from two groups, written guided note treatment and doodle note treatment. The researcher utilized a pre- and posttest model to control for previous knowledge and academic ability. The results were analyzed by gender, reflecting the specific research questions.

Null Hypothesis One

H₀1 considered if there was a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between all students who completed guided doodle notes during lecture and those who completed guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge. The researcher failed to reject H₀1. These results are like those found by Singh and Kashyap (2014) in that the use of doodle notes did not make a significant difference in reading comprehension when compared to guided notes. It also reflects similar findings to Nayar and Koul (2019), that showed a similar increase in reading comprehension skills in both notetaking treatments.

This study did not necessarily support the use of doodle note-taking as a better method of

note-taking in middle school. The results showed that both treatment groups resulted in a higher average scores on the post-test, creating the argument that any form of guided note-taking is beneficial (see Table 6). The study did not provide students with the opportunity to build an emotional connection with the doodles as mentioned in Lewis and Moffett (2020). The doodle notes were provided to the students pre-made without the opportunity to doodle on their own while listening. That connection piece was missing from the study which may have resulted in the lack of statistical significance.

Table 6

Post-test Scores per Note Form

	Mean	Minimum	Maximum
Doodle Notes	40.22	30	49
Guided Notes	30.00	25	50

The environment could have also impacted the findings. The teachers whose classrooms were utilized in the study were not interviewed before the experiment to determine the use of note-taking in their classrooms. The researcher cannot be certain that students were familiar with guided note-taking of any form prior to the study, nor could it be confirmed that students were skilled in notetaking procedures. The lack of understanding of how to properly take notes is a concern in the literature and could have impacted this study as well (Chen, 2021; Morehead et al., 2019). The researcher attempted to combat this issue by providing guided notes for both treatment groups based on the suggestions of existing literature, but this may have still had an impact on the success of the treatments (Colliot et al., 2021; Ward & Vengrin, 2021).

The definitions regarding the concepts for the theory of dual-coding is also considered with these findings. The researcher cannot specify that doodle note-taking was more significant that guided note-taking, contradicting the concept of Paivio's (1974) theory that imagery supports memory. However, the action of writing may fall into the category of a non-verbal stimulus that creates the connection between that and the verbal stimulus (Paivio, 2014). The non-verbal stimulus of physically writing the information from the lecture is present in any form of note-taking. The imagery associated with the doodle notes may be less important than the physical input of writing the information.

This concept supports the literature surrounding generative learning strategies as well. Either form of note-taking, guided written notes or doodle notes, provide students with the opportunity to actively engage with the information. They are connecting a physical input of writing with the information being presented and are required to process what information needs to be written down. By providing students with any opportunity to interact and engage with the information, teachers are creating an environment that supports learning (Brod, 2020; Ponce et al., 2020).

Null Hypothesis Two

 H_02 considered if there was a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between female students who completed guided doodle notes during lecture and those who completed guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge. The researcher failed to reject H_02 .

The results show that the female doodle note-taking group had a higher average score than the male group by almost 1 point. The doodle note-taking group scored over 2 points on average than the guided note-taking group. These findings do not support the existing literature. This study found that, despite not being statistically significant, the female students benefitted more from the doodle note-taking strategy than the male students. This contradicts the studies stating that females learn and process using more verbal methods while males are more likely to use non-verbal connections (Bartlett & Camba, 2023; Hill et al., 2014). However, this could be attributed to the concept of the findings of Uppstad et al. (2021), stating that the gender differences tended to even out by second grade. The participants in this study were all middle school students, placed in the seventh grade by the district through age placement or, in rare cases, being held back in a grade before. These participants were well past the second grade age range, meaning that the gender differences may not have been as significant as they would have been when the participants were younger. Females have also been found to benefit from notetaking strategies more. Perhaps note-taking in general is a strategy best suited for the female brain while males would benefit from a different strategy.

Null Hypothesis Three

H₀3 considered if there was a difference in the self-reporting of reading comprehension skills between male students who completed guided doodle notes during lecture and those who completed guided written notes during lecture, when controlling for academic ability and previous knowledge. The researcher failed to reject H₀3.

The existing literature set up the thought that male students would benefit from doodle note-taking more than female students. Males tend to use more visual or non-verbal tools in memory while females utilize more verbal tools (Bartlett & Camba, 2023; Hill et al., 2014). The researcher theorized that male students would show a higher increase in reading comprehension scores than female students. Males are more likely to connect their reading to prior knowledge, raising the question as to whether guided notes are beneficial for male students or if they would benefit from free doodling while taking notes instead (Acar-Erdol & Akin-Arikan, 2022). Another consideration is that males have a lower working memory than females, meaning that perhaps the lower score could be attributed to this difference (Bedyńska et al., 2020).

Implications

The results of this study did not provide enough support to consider doodle note-taking a best practice in teaching methods. However, it did provide some insight to the benefits of guided note-taking as a whole. Despite not being statistically significant in the differences between doodle and guided note-taking treatments, the statistical analysis does support the concept of note-taking in general. The treatments both resulted in higher average scores for both male and female students and as a whole group. The results support the implementation of some form of note-taking strategy in the middle school classroom.

These findings also provided insight to the definition of non-verbal stimulus as noted in Paivio's (2014) dual-coding theory. The researcher originally interpreted non-verbal stimuli to mean images and using imagery to build stronger mental connections. However, this study has led to the consideration that the physical act of taking notes of any form could be considered as non-verbal stimulus. The vestibular input of writing, coloring, or drawing provides the motion and sensory input needed to activate the non-verbal part of the brain, connecting that with the verbal input of the lecture. This understanding highlights the potential for various applications of dual-coding theory within the classroom.

The researcher also took the lack of student input on the doodle notes into consideration. As Lewis and Moffett (2020) theorized, the emotional connection of doodling is important to its success as a tool to increase memory. Other studies supported the use of structured doodle notetaking strategies (Meade et al., 2019; Sundararaman, 2020). However, this study did not find that structured doodling benefitted the students any more than guided written note-taking. Consideration could be given to the idea of unstructured doodling and giving the students more input on what to include on their notes.

Limitations

This study did have a few limitations that may have impacted the results. The first and possibly the most influential limitation is the violation of the ANCOVA assumptions during the data analysis. There was an outlier present in the RQ1 analysis, violating the assumption of no outliers. The outlier was ultimately kept because it represented a true score from a participant and represented a tremendous growth between pre- and post-tests, assumingly due to the notes they took. This violation was considered and disclosed in the results section. Another violation was present in the RQ2 analysis. This data violated the assumption of homogeneity of regression slopes. However, further research allowed the researcher the confidence to continue with the ANCOVA analysis. All regression lines were trending in a positive direction and the population data did not violate this assumption, so it was determined that the violation did not fatally impact the data (Kirk, 2013). Steps were taken to address these violations, including transformations of the data and the consideration of nonparametric analyses. However, neither of the options appropriately represented the data and it was determined that continuing with the ANCOVA analysis was the best option.

Other limitations included uncontrollable situations with the participant selection process. The researcher was unable to randomly select participants due to the nature of the setting. The use of pre-populated classes was the only accessible way to collect data. Another limitation was the use of parent consent forms rather than opt-out forms. The district required parent consent forms to be used, leading to a smaller sample because many students did not return the form signed by a parent or guardian. An opt-out form would have allowed more participants and provided a more well-rounded view of the data.

In addition to the smaller sample size, all the participants were from the same school in the same district in the same state. This created a limitation of access and background knowledge. Sample bias could impact the results. This limitation could not be avoided but could be considered as a focus of the study. The participants of the study were all residentially zoned for the research site, meaning they all lived in a similar area regarding culture and access.

Time could also be considered a limitation of this study. The experimental portion of the study took place over the span of a week, with active participation only spanning three days. The short time frame may have led to bias in the results. The goal was to provide the highest amount of access for all students by utilizing a week for the time constraint. However, a week may not have been long enough to provide a true picture of the success of the note-taking strategies.

Recommendations for Future Research

This study opened several doors when considering future research. Many of the aspects of this study could be changed to consider different settings in which doodle note-taking may be beneficial. This study took place in one subject area, in one grade level, in one school, in one district, and in one state. The population alone provides a plethora of options for future research, including spanning multiple states for different standards, considering different subject areas, including students from a range of socio-economic levels and backgrounds, and more. The framework of this study could be applied to different age groups as well.

The researcher believes that conducting a study that spans the entire school year could also provide a better picture for the results. Utilizing the doodle note-taking strategy all year and then comparing the end-of-year test scores to classrooms that utilized other forms of note-taking could give more in-depth insight to the benefits of each type of note-taking.

There is a need for more research like this study that focused on middle school-aged students. The researcher struggled to find existing literature on middle school students for this study, showing that the gap in the literature for middle school students is large. Middle school teachers need more research to support best practices and provide guidance on how to provide their students with the best quality educational experiences.

Another research topic to be considered is whether the physical action of taking any form of notes is as beneficial as images being used in note-taking, such as doodle notes. Paivio (1974) theorized that memory has both verbal and non-verbal systems, which could be interpreted as images and words. However, there is research that supported actions as non-verbal stimuli (Paivio, 2014; Schunk, 2020). More in-depth research on the variation of non-verbal stimuli could be beneficial in understanding more about how memory works and how information is stored.

These recommendations support the expansion of knowledge regarding note-taking and doodle note-taking specifically. Educators must have access to an expansive library of data to support best practices within their specific classroom. Focusing on specific grades, areas of the world, genders, and subject areas can provide educators with the information they need to provide their students with educational opportunities that will increase learning in the most effective ways possible.

REFERENCES

- Acar-Erdol, T., & Akin-Arikan, C. (2022). Gender gap in reading achievement: The mediating role of metacognitive strategies and reading related studies. *Social Psychology of Education*, 25(2-3), 537-566. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-022-09692-9
- AL-ASadi, M. M. H., & Judi, K. N. (2021). The effectiveness of using a generative learning strategy to learning the football dribbling skill for youth. *Indian Journal of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology*, 15(3), 2247-2252. https://doi.org/10.37506/ijfmt.v15i3.15649
- Ali, B. R. M., Salman, A. R., & Hassan, A. A. N. (2021). The impact of using doodle technique on improving the performance of reading comprehension of high school students. *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education*, 12(9), 3129-3136.
- Allen, M., LeFebvre, L., LeFebvre, L., & Bourhis, J. (2020). Is the pencil mightier than the keyboard? A meta-analysis comparing the method of notetaking outcomes. *Southern Communication Journal*, 85(3), 143-154.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1041794X.2020.1764613

- Amico, G., & Schaefer, S. (2019). No evidence for performance improvements in episodic memory due to fidgeting, doodling, or a "neuro-enhancing" drink. *Journal of Cognitive Enhancement, 4*, 2-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41465-019-00124-9
- Andrade, J. (2010). What does doodling do? *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 24(1), 100-106. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.1561
- Astra, I. M., Budi, E., & Evita, C. (2020). The effects of active learning model guided note taking on student's critical thinking ability in high school. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1521. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1521/2/022006</u>

- Backhous, K., Erichson, B., Gensler, S., Weiber, R., & Weiber, T. (2021). *Multivariate analysis: An application-oriented introduction*. Springer Gabler.
- Baghestani, A. R., Ahmadi, F., Tanha, A., & Meshkat, M. (2017). Bayesian critical values for Lawshe's content validity ratio. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 52(1), 69-73. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481756.2017.1308227
- Barnes, K., Joosub, K., Koko, M., Landman, E., Parak, N., Nel, C., Sherriff, A., & Joubert, G. (2019). The acceptability of colouring in as a mindfulness activity to reduce distress among adult chemotherapy in patients at Universitas Academic Hospital, Bloemfontein. *SA Journal of Oncology*, *3*(a84), 2518-8704. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/sajo.v3i0.84</u>
- Bartlett, K. A., & Camba, J. D. (2023). Gender differences in spatial ability: A critical review.
 Educational Psychology Review, 35(8), 1-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-023-09728-</u>
 <u>2.</u>
- Bedyńska, S., Krejtz, I., Rycielski, P., & Sedek, G. (2020). Stereotype threat is linked to language achievement and domain identification in young males: Working memory and intellectual helplessness as mediators. *Psychology in the Schools*, 57(9), 1331–1346. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22413
- Ben-Yehudah, G., & Eshet-Alkalai, Y. (2021). Print versus digital reading comprehension tests:
 Does the congruency of study and test medium matter? *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 52(1), 426-440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13014</u>
- Beserra, V., Nussbaum, M., & Oteo, M. (2019). On-task and off-task behavior in the classroom:
 A study on mathematics learning with educational video games. *Journal of Education Computing Research*, 56(8), 1361-1383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633117744346</u>

- Biggers, B., & Luo, T. (2020). Guiding students to success: A systematic review of research on guided notes as an instructional strategy from 2009-2019. *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice*, *17*(3), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.53761/1.17.3.12
- Boggs, J. B., Cohen, J. L., & Marchland, G. C. (2017). The effects of doodling on recall ability. *Psychological Thought, 10*(1), 206-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.5964/psyct.v10i1.217</u>
- Bohay, M., Blakely, D. P., Tamplin, A. K., & Radvansky, G. A. (2011). Note-taking, review, memory, and comprehension. *The American Journal of Psychology*, 24(1), 63-73. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5406/amerjpsyc.124.1.0063</u>
- Boslaugh, S. (2012). Factorial ANOVA and ANCOVA. In *Statistics in a nutshell* (2nd ed.). O'Rielly Media.
- Breitwieser, J., & Brod, G. (2021). Cognitive prerequisites for generative learning: Why some learning strategies are more effective than others. *Child Development*, 92(1), 258-272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13393</u>
- Brod, G. (2020). Generative learning: Which strategies for what age? *Educational Psychology Review*, 33(4), 1295-1318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09571-9</u>
- Brod, G., & Shing, Y. L. (2022). Are there age-related differences in the effects of prior knowledge on learning? Insights gained from the memory congruency effect. *Mind, Brain, and Education, 16*(2), 89-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mbe.12320</u>
- Brunfaut, T., Kormos, J., Michel, M., & Ratajczak, M. (2021). Testing young foreign language learners' reading comprehension: Exploring the effects of working memory, grade level, and reading task. *Language Testing*, 38(3), 356-377.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0265532221991480

- Bujang, M. A., Sa'at, N., Ikhwan, T. M., & Sidik, T. A. B. (2017). Determination of minimum sample size requirement for multiple linear regression and analysis of covariance based on experimental and non-experimental studies. *Epidemiology Biostatistics and Public Health 14*(3), e12117-1-e12117-9. https://doi.org/10.2427/12117
- Cartwright, K. B., & Duke, N. K. (2023). *Executive skills and reading comprehension: A guide for educators* (2nd ed.). Guilford Publications.
- Chen, P. (2021). In-class and after-class lecture note-taking strategies. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 22(3), 245-260. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F1469787419893490

- Chen, P., Teo, T., & Zhou, M. (2017). Effects of guided notes on enhancing college students' lecture note-taking quality and learning performance. *Current Psychology*, 36(4). <u>http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1007/s12144-016-9459-6</u>
- Cho, E., Ju, U., Kim, E. H., Lee, M., Lee, G., & Compton, D. L. (2022). Relations among motivation, executive functions, and reading comprehension: Do they differ for students with and without reading difficulties? *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 27(4), 289–310. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2022.2127357
- Clark, J. M., & Paivio, A. (1991). Dual coding theory and education. *Educational Psychology Review*, *3*(3). <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/23359208</u>
- Clark, R. C., & Mayer, R. E. (2016). *e-Learning and the science of instruction: Proven guidelines for consumers and designers of multimedia learning* (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Clemens, N. H., Hsiao, Y., Lee, K., Martinez-Lincoln, A., Moore, C., Toste, J., & Simmons, L. (2021). The differential importance of component skills on reading comprehension test

performance among struggling adolescent readers. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 54(3), 155-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219420932139</u>

Colliot, T., & Jamet, E. (2020). Effects of self-generated graphic organizers on learning depend on in-task guidance. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, *36*(5), 646-655.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12434

- Colliot, T., Kiewra, K. A., Luo, L., Flanigan, A. E., Lu, J., Kennedy, C., & Black, S. (2021). The effects of graphic organizer completeness and note-taking medium on computer-based learning. *Education and Information Technologies*, 27(2), 2435-2456. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10693-y
- Cumming, M. M., Smith, S. W., & O'Brien, K. (2019). Perceived stress, executive function, perceived stress regulation, and behavioral outcomes of adolescents with and without significant behavior problems. *Psychology in Schools*, 56(9), 1359-1380. <u>https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/pits.22293</u>
- Dong, X., Liu, Y., & Jing Lu, H. (2022). Effects of learning item difficulty and value on cognitive offloading during middle childhood. *Metacognition and Learning*, 17(3), 1097-1115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11409-022-09309-8
- Dugasa, G., Olana, T., & Ali, S. (2022). Effects of explicit reading strategy instruction on grade
 9 students' achievement in reading comprehension. *Educational Research International*,
 2022, 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/7872840</u>
- Duke, N. K., & Cartwright, K. B. (2021). The science of reading progresses: Communicating advances beyond the simple view of reading. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 56(S1), S25-S44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.411</u>

- Elston, A., Tiba, C., & Condy, J. (2022). The role of explicit teaching of reading comprehension strategies to an English as a second language learner. *South African Journal of Childhood Education*, 12(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/sajce.v12i1.1097</u>
- Fabros, B. G., & Ibañez, E. D. (2021). Effectiveness of utilizing graphic organizers in improving conceptual understanding towards operations of fractions among teachers. *International Journal of Instruction*, 16(1), 507-526. <u>https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2023.16128a</u>
- Farley, A., Pahom, O., & Ramonda, K. (2014). Is a picture worth a thousand words? Using images to create a concreteness effect for abstract words: Evidence from beginning learners of Spanish. *Hispania*, 97(4), 634-650. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/24369202</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyzes using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160.
- Feudel, F., & Panse, A. (2021). Can guided notes support students' note-taking in mathematics lecture? *International Journal of Research in Undergraduate Mathematics Education*, 8(1), 8-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40753-021-00146-9</u>
- Fiorella, L. (2023). Making sense of generative learning. *Educational Psychology Review*, 35(50), 1-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-02309769-7</u>
- Flippo, R. F., & Bean, T. W. (Eds.). (2018). Handbook of college reading and study strategy research. Taylor & Francis Group.
- Frankel, K. K., Ward, A. E., & Fields, S. S. (2019). Leveraging adolescents' agency, engagement, and comprehension-focused reading. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 63(2), 224-228. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/jaal.990</u>

- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). *Educational research: An introduction* (8th ed.). Allyn & Bacon.
- Hamilton, S. L., Seibert, M. A., Garner, R. III, & Talbert-Johnson, C. (2000). Using guided notes to improve the academic achievement of incarcerated adolescents with learning and behavior problems. *Remedial and Special Education*, 21(3), 133-170.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/074193250002100302
- Harrison, J. R., Evans, S. W., Baran, A., Khondker, F., Press, K., Noel, D., Wasserman, S.,
 Belmonte, C., & Mohlmann, M. (2020). Comparison of accommodations and
 interventions for youth with ADHD: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of School Psychology*, 80(2020), 15-36. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.jsp.2020.05.001

- Hill, A. C., Laird, A. R., & Robinson, J. L. (2014). Gender differences in working memory networks: A brain map meta-analysis. *Biological Psychology*, *102*(2014), 18-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.06.008</u>
- Huang, S., Jeng, Y., & Lai, C. (2021). Note-taking learning system: The use of the learning style theory and the peer learning method on computer programming course. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 59(5), 870-895. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F0735633120985235</u>
- Ihara, A. S., Nakajima, K., Kake, A., Ishimaru, K., Osugi, K., & Naruse, Y. (2021). Advantage of handwriting over typing on learning words: Evidence from an N400 event-related potential index. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 15(679191), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.679191</u>

- İlter, İ. (2019). Efficacy of note-taking skills instruction supported by self-monitoring on the reading comprehension. *Education and Science*, 44(198), 229-253. https://doi.org/10.15390/EB.2019.7862
- Jeon, M., Kwon, K., & Bae, H. (2023). Effects of different graphic organizers in asynchronous online discussions. *Education Technology Research and Development*, 71(2023), 689-715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-022-10175-z</u>
- Jian, Y. C. (2022). Reading in print versus digital media uses different cognitive strategies: evidence from eye movements during science-text reading. *Reading and Writing*, 35, 1549–1568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-021-10246-2</u>
- Khayyer, Z., Azad, R. S., Arani, Z. T., & Harandi, R. J. (2021). Examining the effect of stress induction on auditory working memory performance for emotional and non-emotional stimuli in female students. *Heliyon*, 7(4), 1-7.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e06876

- Kimhi, Y., Sokol, O., & Lavian, R. H. (2022). Professional competence of teachers: Improving reading comprehension in classes for children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD).
 Teaching and Teacher Education, 118(2022), 1-11.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2022.103829
- Kirk, R. E. (2013). Analysis of covariance. In *Experimental design: Procedures for the behavioral sciences* (4 ed., pp. 621-670). Sage. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483384733</u>

Kobayashi, K. (2005). What limits the encoding effect of note-taking? A meta-analytic review. *Contemporary Educational Psychology, 30*, 242-262.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2004.10.001

- Kobayashi, K. (2006). Combined effects of note-taking/reviewing on learning and the enhancement through interventions: A meta-analytic review. *Educational Psychology*, 26(3), 459-477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410500342070</u>
- Konrad, M., Joseph, L. M., & Itoi, M. (2011). Using guided notes to enhance instruction for all students. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 46(3), 131-140.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451210378163

- Korsgaard, M. T. (2020). Pearl diving and the exemplary way educational note-taking and taking note in education. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 53(13), 1350-1358. <u>https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/00131857.2020.1743272</u>
- Laerd Statistics. (2017). One-way ANCOVA using SPSS Statistics. *Statistical tutorials and software guides*. <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/</u>
- Lagoudakis, N., Vlachos, F., Christidou, V., & Vavougious, D. (2022). The effectiveness of a teaching approach using brain-based learning elements on students' performance in a biology course. *Cogent Education*, 9(1), 1-13.

https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2022.2158672

- Lebedeva, M. (2022). Strategies of reading digital texts for performing educational reading tasks: Study based on the think-aloud protocols. *Educational Studies Moscow*, (1), 244-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.17323/1814-9545-2022-1-244-270</u>
- Lefki, K., Konrad, M., & Kazolia, T. (2019). Effects of a guided-notes intervention program on the quiz and note-taking Greek history performance of high school students with learning disabilities in Cyprus. *Education and Treatment of Children, 42*(1), 47-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.2019.0003</u>

- Lewis, T. E., & Moffett, C. (2020). Notes on notes on notes. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *53*(13), 1359-1387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2020.1743270</u>
- Li, H., Gan, Z., Leung, S. O., & An, Z. (2022). The impact of reading strategy instruction on reading comprehension, strategy use, motivation, and self-efficacy in Chinese university EFL students. SAGE Open, 12(1), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440221086659</u>
- Lim, D. H., Chai, D. S., Park, S., & Doo, M. Y. (2019). Neuroscientism, the neuroscience of learning: An integrative review and implications for learning and development in the workplace. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 43(7/8), 619-643. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-03-2019-0033
- Makany, T., Kemp, J., & Dror, I. E. (2009). Optimizing the use of note-taking as an external cognitive aid for increasing learning. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 40(4), 619-635. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2008.00906.x</u>
- Mangen, A., & Pirhonen, A. (2022). Reading, writing, technology, and embodiment. In S. L.
 Macrine, & J. M. B. Fugate (Eds.), *Movement matters: How embodied cognition informs teaching and learning* (pp. 103-120). The MIT Press.

https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/13593.001.0001

- Marin, L., & Sturm, S. (2021). 'Why aren't you taking any notes?' on note-taking as a collective gesture. *Educationa Philosophy and Theory*, 53(13), 1399-1406. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2020.1744131
- Marin, M., Raymond, C., & Lupien, S. J. (2019). Memory and stress. In G. Fink (Ed.), *Stress: Physiology, biochemistry, and pathology* (Volume 3, pp. 69-78). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813146-6.00006-0</u>z

- McCoach, D. B., Gable, R. K., & Madura, J. P. (2013). *Instrument development in the affective domain: School and corporate applications* (3rd ed.). Springer Science+Business Media.
- McManus, E., Talmi, D., Haroon, H., & Muhlert, N. (2022). Psychosocial stress has weaker than expected effects on episodic memory and related cognitive analysis: A meta-analysis.
 Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 132, 1099-1113.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.10.038

- Meade, M. E., Wammes, J. D., & Fernandes, M. A. (2019). Comparing the influence of doodling, drawing, and writing at encoding on memory. *Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 73(1), 28-36. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/cep0000170</u>
- Medina, A. L., Hancock, S. D., Hathaway, J. I., Pilonieta, P., & Holshouser, K. O. (2021). The influence of sustained school-based professional development on explicit reading comprehension strategy instruction. *Reading Psychology*, 42(8), 807-835. https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2021.1939820
- Miller, C. J., Smith, S. N., & Pugatch, M. (2019). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs in implementation research. *Psychiatry Research*, 283, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.06.027
- Morehead, K., Dunlosky, J., Rawson, K. A., Blasiman, R., & Hollis, R. B. (2019). Note-taking habits of 21st century college students: Implications for student learning, memory, and achievement. *Memory*, 27(6), 807-819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2019.1569694</u>
- Nash, C. (2021). Doodling as a measure of burnout in healthcare researchers. *Cult Med Psychiatry*, 45(4), 565-598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11013-020-09690-6</u>

- Nayar, B., & Koul, S. (2019). The journey from recall to knowledge: A study of two factors structured doodling and note-taking on a student's recall ability. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 34(1), 127-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-01-2019-0002.</u>
- Nguyen, N. N., Mosier, W., Hines, J., & Garnett, W. (2022). Learning styles are out of style: Shifting to multimodal learning experiences. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, *58*, 70-75. https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2022.2039520
- Nouwens, S., Groen, M. A., Kleemans, T., & Verhoeven, L. (2021). How executive functions contribute to reading comprehension. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(1), 169-192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12355</u>
- Nouwens, S., Groen, M. A., & Verhoeven, L. (2017). How working memory relates to children's reading comprehension: The importance of domain-specificity in storage and processing. *Reading and Writing*, 30(1), 105-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-016-9665-5</u>
- Paas, F., & van Merriënboer, J. J. G. (2020). Cognitive-load theory: Methods to manage working memory load in the learning of complex tasks. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 29(4), 394-398. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F0963721420922183

- Paivio, A. (1974). Language and knowledge of the world. *American Educational Research Association*, 3(9), 5-12. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1174914
- Paivio, A. (2014). Intelligence, dual coding theory, and the brain. *Intelligence*, 47, 141-158. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.intell.2014.09.002
- Park, H., Kim, D., & Vorobel, O. (2020). International students' reading digital texts on tablets: experiences and strategies. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 32(3), 476-504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-019-09242-x</u>

Peng, P., Wang, W., Filderman, M. J., Zhang, W., & Lin, L. (2023). The active ingredient in reading comprehension strategy intervention for struggling readers: A Bayesian network meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 94(2).

https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543231171345

- Peper, P., Alakbarova, D., & Ball, B. H. (2023). Benefits from prospective memory offloading depend on memory load and reminder type. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning Memory, and Cognition, 49*(4), 590-606. https://doi.org/10.1037/xlm0001191
- Peterson, A. K., Ukrainetz, T. A., & Risueñe, R. (2021). Speaking like a scientist: A multiple case study on sketch and speak intervention to improve expository discourse. *Autism & Developmental Language Impairments*, 6, 1-19.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2396941521998604

- Peverly, S. T., & Wolf, A. D. (2019). Note-taking. In J. Dunlosky & K. A. Rawson (Eds.), *The Cambridge handbook of cognition and education* (pp. 320–355). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108235631.014</u>
- Ponce, H. R., Mayer, R. E., Soledad Loyola, M., & López, M. J. (2020). Study activities that foster generative learning: Notetaking, graphic organizer, and questioning. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 58(2), 275-296.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633119865554

Pongsatornpipat, W. (2022). An implementation of online extensive reading to improve reading comprehension of social work students. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 12(11), 2291-2297. <u>https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1211.08</u>

- Qi, W., & Jiang, Y. (2021). Use of graphic organizer as a pedagogical instrument for the sustainable development of EFL learners' English reading comprehension. *Sustainability*, 2021(13). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su132413748</u>
- Ramos Salazar, L. (2019). Exploring the effect of coloring mandalas on students' math anxiety in business statistics courses. *Business, Management, and Education*, 17(2), 134-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.3846/bme.2019.11024</u>
- Reyes, C. C., & Bishop, P. A. (2019). What visualizing strategic reading means for young adolescents. *Journal of Visual Literacy*, 38(4), 262-284. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/1051144X.2019.1611700
- Roivainen, E., Suokas, F., & Saari, A. (2021). An examination of factors that may contribute to gender differences in psychomotor processing speed. *BMC Psychology*, 9(190), 1-10. <u>http://doi.org//10.1186/s40359-021-00698-0</u>.
- Rusdiansyah. (2019). Note-taking as a technique in teaching reading comprehension. *Journal of Language and Learning, Linguistics and Literature,* 7(2), 173-184. http://dx.doi.org/10.24256/ideas.v7i2.1033
- Schott, G. D. (2011). The art of medicine: Doodling and the default network of the brain. *The Lancet*, *378*, 1133-1134.

Schunk, D. (2020). Learning theories: An educational perspective. Pearson..

Search for Public Schools. National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) Home Page, a part of the U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). <u>https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/school_detail.asp?Search=1&DistrictID=3702640&</u> ID=370264001101

- Shaaban, T. S., & Mohamed, A. M. (2023). Exploring the effectiveness of augmented reality technology on reading comprehension skills among early childhood pupils with learning disabilities. *Journal of Computers in Education*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40692-023-</u> 00269-9
- Shrestha, N. (2021). Factor analysis as a tool for survey analysis. *American Journal of Applied Mathematics and Statistics*, 9(1), 4-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.12691/ajams-9-1-2</u>
- Singh, T., & Kashyap, N. (2014). Does doodling effect performance: Comparison across retrieval strategies. *Psychol Stud*, 60, 7-11. <u>https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1007/s12646-014-0293-3</u>
- Sousa, D. A. (2022). Learning to read and learning mathematics. In *How the brain learns* (6th ed.) (pp. 181-206). Corwin Press.
- Sun, Y., Wang, J., Dong, Y., Zheng, H., Yang, J., Zhao, Y., & Dong, W. (2021). The relationship between reading strategy and reading comprehension: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 635289. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.635289</u>
- Sundararaman, D. (2020). Doodle away: Exploring the effects of doodling on recall ability of high school students. *International Journal of Psychological Studies*, 12(2), 31-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/ijps.v12n2p31</u>
- Tadayon, M., & Afhami, R. (2017). Doodling effects on junior high school students' learning. International Journal of Art & Design Education, 36(1), 118-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jade.12081</u>
- Tiba, C. (2023). Motivation to explicitly teach reading comprehension strategies after a workshop. *Reading & Writing*, *14*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/rw.v14i1.405</u>

- Turturro, N., & Drake, J. E. (2022). Does coloring reduce anxiety? Comparing the psychological and psychophysiological benefits of coloring versus drawing. *Empirical Studies of the Arts*, 40(1), 3-20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0276237420923290</u>
- Uppstad, P. H., Lundertræ, K., & Solheim, O. J. (2021). Gender differences in early literacy: Boys' response to formal instruction. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *113*(4), 690-705. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/edu0000626</u>.
- U.S. News: Education. (n.d.). *Lexington Middle School*. <u>https://www.usnews.com/education/k12/north-carolina/lexington-middle-school-</u> <u>265109#data</u>
- Vasylets, O., Mellado, M. D., & Plonsky, L. (2022). The role of cognitive individual differences in digital versus pen-and-paper writing. *Studies in Second Language Learning and Teaching*, 12(4), 721-743. <u>https://doi.org/10.14746/ssllt.2022.12.4.9</u>
- Velasco, S. B., & Villanueva, J. S. (2022). Development and validation of a reading comprehension scale. *American Journal of Education and Technologies*, 1(1), 10-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.54536/ajet.v1i1.327</u>
- Wammes, J. D., Meade, M. E., & Fernandes, M. A. (2017). Learning terms and definitions: Drawing and the role of elaborative encoding. *Acta Psychologica*, 179, 104-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2017.07.008</u>

Ward, J. L., & Vengrin, C. A. (2021). Comparison of instructor-provided versus studentgenerated graphic organizers in an elective veterinary cardiology course. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 48*(1), 84-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1318/jvme.1018-121r1</u>

- Willis, J., & Willis, M. (2020). Research-based strategies to ignite student learning: Insights from neuroscience and the classroom. Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development.
- Wong, S. S. H., & Lim, S. W. H. (2021). Take notes, not photos: Mind-wandering mediates the impact of note-taking strategies on video-recorded lecture learning performance. *Journal* of Experimental Psychology: Applied (Advance Online Publication).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/xap0000375

- Wu, Y., Barquero, L. A., Pickren, S. E., Barber, A. T., & Cutting, L. E. (2020). The relationship between cognitive skills and reading comprehension of narrative and expository tests: A longitudinal study from grade 1 to grade 4. *Learning and Individual Differences, 80*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2020.101848
- Yapp, D. J., de Graaff, R., & van den Bergh, H. (2021). Improving second language reading comprehension through reading strategies: A meta-analysis of L2 reading strategy interventions. *Journal of Second Language Studies*, 4(1), 154–192.
 https://doi.org/10.1075/jsls.19013.yap
- Zeyab, A., Almodaires, A., & Almutairi, F. (2020). Thinking differently: A visual note recording strategy to improve learning. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 11(2), 11-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.77176/JEP/11-2-02</u>
- Ziadat, A. H. (2021). Sketchnote and working memory to improve mathematical word problem solving among children with dyscalculia. *International Journal of Instruction*, 15(1), 509-526. <u>https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2022.15129a</u>

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A1: WRITTEN GUIDED NOTES

Reading Comprehension Strategies

What is Reading Comprehension?

Reading comprehension is

It helps you:

- _____
- _____

These strategies will help you as you read any text you read!

- •
- _____
- •
- •

<u>Re-Reading</u>

You should read a text 3 times:

Inferencing

Inferencing means to make an educated guess

Predicting

Using your inferences to predict what will happen next in the story

• _____

_____+____=_____=

Visualizing

Good readers make _____ in their minds.

• _____

<u>Summarizing</u>

Being able to summarize what you've read means

Can you tell me what you've read in _____ words?

Consider the _____, the _____, and the

· · ·

READING COMPREHENSION STRATEGIES





APPENDIX B: READING COMPREHENSION SCALE USAGE APPROVAL



Doctoral Candidate: Ph.D. Curriculum and Instruction Liberty University

APPENDIX C: IRB APPROVAL

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

December 13, 2023

Kayla DeWald Rebecca Lunde

Re: IRB Approval - IRB-FY23-24-813 THE IMPACT OF GUIDED DOODLE NOTE-TAKING ON READING COMPREHENSION: A QUASI-EXPERIMENTAL STUDY

Dear Kayla DeWald, Rebecca Lunde,

We are pleased to inform you that your study has been approved by the Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB). This approval is extended to you for one year from the following date: December 13, 2023. If you need to make changes to the methodology as it pertains to human subjects, you must submit a modification to the IRB. Modifications can be completed through your Cayuse IRB account.

Your study falls under the expedited review category (45 CFR 46.110), which is applicable to specific, minimal risk studies and minor changes to approved studies for the following reason(s):

7. Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies. (NOTE: Some research in this category may be exempt from the HHS regulations for the protection of human subjects. <u>45 CFR 46.101(b)(2)</u> and (b)(3). This listing refers only to research that is not exempt.)

For a PDF of your approval letter, click on your study number in the My Studies card on your Cayuse dashboard. Next, click the Submissions bar beside the Study Details bar on the Study Details page. Finally, click Initial under Submission Type and choose the Letters tab toward the bottom of the Submission Details page. Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found on the same page under the Attachments tab. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available without alteration.

Thank you for your cooperation with the IRB, and we wish you well with your research project.

Sincerely,

G. Michele Baker, PhD, CIP Administrative Chair Research Ethics Office

APPENDIX D: PERMISSION FROM GUARDIANS

Dear Parent/Guardian,

As a doctoral candidate in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The purpose of my research is to determine the impact of guided doodle note taking strategies on middle school student reading comprehension, and I am writing to invite your student to join my study.

Participants must be a seventh-grade student at Flat Rock Middle School. Participants will be asked to complete a 13-question pre-assessment, participate in a video lesson on reading comprehension, and then complete the 13-question assessment again. All classes will complete these exercises; however, while most classes will take guided written notes, one class will take guided doodle notes. It should take approximately 1 hour spread across three class periods in the span of one week to complete the procedure listed. Participation will be completely anonymous, and no personal, identifying information will be collected.

A consent document is attached to this letter and contains additional information about my research. For your student to participate, you will need to return the parental consent form to your student's ELA teacher.

Sincerely,

Kayla DeWald IB/Magnet Coordinator – Flat Rock Middle School

Doctoral Candidate - Liberty University
Parental Consent

Title of the Project: The Impact of Doodle Note-Taking on Reading Comprehension: A Quasi-Experimental Study

Principal Investigator: Kayla DeWald, Doctoral Candidate, School of Education, Liberty University

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

Your student is invited to participate in a research study. To participate, they must be a seventhgrade student at Flat Rock Middle School. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to allow your student to take part in this research project.

What is the study about and why are we doing it?

The purpose of the study is to determine the impact of guided doodle note taking strategies on middle school student reading comprehension.

What will participants be asked to do in this study?

If you agree to allow your student to be in this study, I will ask them to do the following:

- Complete a 13-question self-assessment on reading comprehension abilities. This should take 10-15 minutes in their ELA class.
- Participate in a video lesson about reading comprehension strategies. One class will take guided doodle notes, while the other classes chosen for the study will take written guided notes. This should take about 30 minutes in their ELA class.
- Complete the 13-question self-assessment again two days after the lesson was given. This should take 10-15 minutes in their ELA class.

All information will be de-identified meaning that your student's name and other information will not be included in the data. All students will receive the same educational information through the video lesson, but one class will be randomly selected to receive written guided notes as a control group.

How could participants or others benefit from this study?

The direct benefit participants should expect to receive from taking part in this study is a reinforcement lesson regarding best practices in reading comprehension.

Benefits to society include providing research-based evidence to support doodle notes in the classroom, informing K-12 teachers of best practices to use in the classroom, and allow for higher learning and retention rates in students.

Liberty University IRB-FY23-24-813 Approved on 12-13-2023

What risks might participants experience from being in this study?

The expected risks from participating in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks your student would encounter in everyday life.

How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records.

- Participant responses will be anonymous. No identifying information will be attached to the data collected.
- Data will be stored on a password protected computer that is only accessible by the researcher. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted.

Is the researcher in a position of authority over participants, or does the researcher have a financial conflict of interest?

The researcher serves as the Magnet Coordinator at Flat Rock Middle School. To limit potential or perceived conflicts, students will be assigned a numerical code, so the researcher will not know who participated. This disclosure is made so that you can decide if this relationship will affect your willingness to allow your student to participate in this study. No action will be taken against an individual based on her or his decision to allow his or her student to participate in this study.

Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether to allow your student to participate will not affect your or their current or future relations with Liberty University, Winston-Salem Forsyth County Schools, or Flat Rock Middle School. If you decide to allow your student to participate, they are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time prior to submitting the survey without affecting those relationships.

What should be done if a participant wishes to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw your student from the study or your student chooses to withdraw, please have them exit the survey and close their internet browser. Your student's responses will not be recorded or included in the study.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Kayla DeWald You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, **you are encouraged** to contact her at

Liberty University IRB-FY23-24-813 Approved on 12-13-2023

You may also contact the researcher's

faculty sponsor, Dr. Rebecca Lunde at

Whom do you contact if you have questions about rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, **you are encouraged** to contact the IRB. Our physical address is Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA, 24515; our phone number is 434-592-5530, and our email address is irb@liberty.edu.

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

Your Consent

By signing this document, you are agreeing to allow your student to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.

I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to allow my student to participate in the study.

Printed Child's/Student's Name

Parent/Guardian's Signature

Date

Liberty University IRB-FY23-24-813 Approved on 12-13-2023

APPENDIX E: SLIDESHOW FOR INSTRUCTION





A penny for your thoughts? If it's a 1943 copper penny, it could be worth as much as fifty thousand dollars. In 1943, most pennies were made out of steel since copper was needed for World War II. so the 1943 copper penny is ultra-rare. Another rarity is the 1955 double die penny. These pennies were mistakenly double stamped, so they have overlapping dates and letters. If it's uncirculated, it'd easily fetch \$25,000 at an auction. Now that's a pretty pennyl

•

Gan r	i you tell ead in ou	me what 11y 10 wor	you've ds?	
				_

APPENDIX FA: SCREENSHOTS OF ONLINE TOOL: PRE-TEST

Reading Comprehension Sca	le Pre-Test
Not shared	<u>ه</u>
* Indicates required question	
Student Numerical Code - This is the code given to you by	your teacher. *
Your answer	
Gender *	
O Male	
O Female	

Consider what you do when you read. Please select the best response to each statement. Please be completely honest - you are not being graded for your responses.

	Every Time	Almost Every Time	Almost Never	Never
l read silently to better understand what l read.	0	0	0	0
l read in a quiet place to better understand what l read.	0	0	0	0
I look for the importance of the story.	0	0	0	0
I think of the lesson I learned from the story	0	0	0	0

I read the title to see what the story is about.	0	0	0	0
l imagine the scenes in the story.	0	0	0	0
I reread the best part of the story.	0	0	0	0
I reread some parts to see if things are making sense.	0	0	0	0
I scan first the entire story before I read it.	0	0	0	0
I think of a better ending for the story.	0	0	0	0

clues to help me define unfamiliar words.	0	0	0	0
I look at the pictures to better understand the story.	0	0	0	0
I look at the pictures to see what the story is about.	0	0	0	0
iubmit				Clear fo

*

APPENDIX FB: SCREENSHOTS OF ONLINE TOOL: POST-TEST

Reading Comprehension Scale Post-Test Consider what you do when statement. Please be comp				t the best respons not being graded fo	e to each * or your
Not shared	responses.		Almost Every		200 - Canada ()
* Indicates required question		Every Time	Time	Almost Never	Never
Student Numerical Code - This is the code given to you by your teacher. *	I read silently to better understand what I read.	0	0	0	0
Your answer	I read in a quiet place to better understand what I read.	0	0	0	0
Gender *	I look for the importance of the story.	0	0	0	0
Male Female	I think of the lesson I learned from the story	0	0	0	0
Did your class do doodle notes or guided notes? *	I read the title to see what the story is about.	0	0	0	0
If you were given colored pencils during the video, you will select "Doodle Notes." If you were given just the paper to write the notes on, you will select "Guided Notes."	I imagine the scenes in the story.	0	0	0	0
Guided Notes	I reread the best part of the story.	0	0	0	0
	I reread some parts to see if things are making sense.	0	0	0	0
	I scan first the entire story before I read it.	0	0	0	0
	I think of a better ending for the story.	0	0	0	0
	I use context clues to help me define unfamiliar words.	0	0	0	0
	I look at the pictures to better understand the story.	0	0	0	0
	I look at the pictures to see what the story is about.	0	0	0	0
	Submit				Clear for